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Statement from the Board of Directors

EESHH

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am glad to present to the shareholders the
annual report of Success Dragon International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year
ended 31 March 2025.

Looking ahead, the geopolitical risk as well as the influence by the
tariff war will serve as support points for gold price onwards, as it will
stimulate the interest of investors and expected that the gold price to be
propelled by demand from central banks. The geo-political uncertainties
caused by the prolonged China-western trade and culture frictions as
well as the on-going inflation will continue to drive gold as a safe-haven
asset. The gold is likely to break more records in the coming year.

In addition to the Group’s commitment to the development of its core
gold processing business, the Group will leverage on its experience and
know-how in the existing businesses to capture market opportunities.
The Group will proactively explore other investment opportunities
to expand its income stream, thereby maximizing the value for the
shareholders of the Company.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our appreciation to my
fellow directors and staff for their diligence and contributions to the
Group in the past year, to the shareholders and business partners for
their understanding and support. With their continuous support and
contributions, we will strive to stimulate corporate growth and deliver
high returns to the Company and shareholders.

LIU Shiwei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025

BEMKE

RABREEFTEMSUBRRIZEHERBIERE
RAR([ARFDREMBAG ([AEE]DHZEZ
E_RAFZAZ+—BUYREEZFR-

RERRK  MEBOARBRARMBENZEEKE
EEERLITOXE  ARNESRIEIREE R -
EeERAMBIINRITELRAES - FEEHR
MXAEBEBR I BB ABOA TN EE S - 102 @8k
SEMR HEFABRREESKEMS 288
EPERKR-—FEEHS -

BREIRNBEREZLOESMTEBI  AEEKF
RERRBEXRGHERLREXMBILETSEE
AEEREBRRREMBRERS - WEBAXHEKRAKR
R M ARRBRREREAEE -

AANBRREFEROBHABUEETRET » B
fERE—FRLBTREAEEELER - &
ANERREZTEROBHRRBEBEEH 2 2B
Rt  BEEFMEIRBRREXEBBHNOFE
XELRER RSB OEDRRKRE  BEARA
REBBRREREE®R -

Hl+ &
TE

BEE —TE-RAFSA=-t+H

4 Success Dragon International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25



Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$125.2 million for
the financial year ended 31 March 2025 (“FY2025” or the “Year”) as
compared with approximately HK$422.7 million in the financial year
ended 31 March 2024 (“FY2024”), representing a significant decrease
of approximately 70.4%. During the Year, the Group was principally
engaged in the business of gold processing and trading. The decrease
in the Group’s revenue was mainly attributable to the decrease in
revenue in gold ore processing in Henan province during the Year.

Gold-laden Carbon Processing

The Group has a production line in Yunnan province, the PRC, for the
extraction of gold and other precious metals from gold-laden carbon.
The Group purchases the gold-laden carbon from suppliers including
mining enterprises and traders. At the Group’s production line, gold
and other precious metals are extracted from the gold-laden carbon
using processes such as desorption and electrodeposition and turn
into bullion. The extracted gold and other precious metals will be sold
to buyers and dealers in the PRC. During the Year, the Group has
recorded approximately HK$108.2 million revenue from gold-laden
carbon processing (FY2024: approximately HK$153.8 million). The
volume for the gold-laden carbon processing was stable and the
decrease in revenue was attributable to the stock up of the bullion and
proposed for sale at a higher price in future.

Gold Ore Processing

The Group has entered into lease agreements with independent third
parties in respect of several gold processing plants located in Henan
province of the PRC. The gold processing plants purchase gold
ore from suppliers and process the gold ore by way of a series of
crushing and grinding, gravity separation/flotation, concentration and
dehydration, and turn it into gold concentrate. The Group sells the gold
concentrate to gold smelters and recognizes revenue upon such sale.
The Group only recorded approximately HK$17.0 million revenue from
gold ore processing during the Year (FY2024: approximately HK$268.9
million). The significant decrease in revenue was mainly derived by the
reduction of production due to the insufficient supply of gold ore from
suppliers as there were infrastructure constructions in the mining zones
of two suppliers in Henan which hindered the mining activities during
the Year.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales decreased by approximately HK$291.0 million or
approximately 75.5%, from approximately HK$385.5 million for FY2024
to approximately HK$94.5 million for the Year, which was primarily due
to the significant decrease in revenue in the gold processing and trading
business during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFNmRE DM

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit only decreased by approximately HK$6.5
million, or approximately 17.5%, from approximately HK$37.2 million for
FY2024 to approximately HK$30.7 million despite there was significant
decrease in revenue during the Year. The drop in gross profit was not
proportionate to the decrease in revenue mainly due to the (i) higher
grade of gold-laden carbon (which reflects the gold content) supplied
by the Group’s supplier during the Year; (ii) the significant decrease in
revenue for gold ore processing in Henan which contributed the lower
gross profit margin and (jii) significant rise in gold price during the Year
which drove up gross profit to the Group. This resulted in the overall
gross profit margin significantly increased from approximately 8.8% in
FY2024 to 24.5% for the Year.

Other gain or loss, net

The decrease of HK$0.5 million in the Group’s other gain or loss, net
was mainly attributable to the decrease in interest income on bank
deposits of HK$0.6 million.

Administrative and other operating expenses

The administrative and other operating expenses decreased by
approximately HK$8.5 million or 29.7% from approximately HK$28.6
million for FY2024 to approximately HK$20.1 milion for the Year. The
decrease was mainly attributable to () decrease in impairment loss on
trade receivables; (i) decrease in other receivable and deposits written off
and (jii) decrease in depreciation of right-of-use assets during the Year.

Finance costs

The finance costs decreased by approximately HK$0.4 million or 62.9%
from approximately HK$0.6 million for FY2024 to approximately HK$0.2
million for the Year. The finance costs for the Year mainly derived by the
interest on lease liabilities from the right-of-use assets.

Income tax expenses

The income tax expenses decreased by approximately HK$1.7 million or
27.3% from approximately HK$6.3 million for FY2024 to approximately
HK$4.6 million for the Year. The decrease was mainly derived by the
decrease of the profit before taxation in the gold processing and trading
business.

Profit for the year
As a result of the foregoing, the Group reported a net profit attributable

to owners of the Company of approximately HK$8.5 million for the Year
(FY2024: HK$6.2 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group had current assets of approximately HK$189.4 million
as at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$193.6 million) which comprised
cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$73.0 million (2024:
HK$79.8 million) and inventories of approximately HK$92.0 million
(2024: HK$12.8 million) which mainly comprised the finished goods of
gold concentrates and bullion in Henan and Yunan respectively. The
significant increase in inventories is mainly attributable to the stock up
of the bullion in the gold-laden carbon processing in Yunan and the
resumption of gold ore processing in Henan in March 2025. The Group
had current liabilities amounted to approximately HK$99.8 million as at
31 March 2025 (2024: HK$85.9 million). Accordingly, the current ratio,
being the ratio of current assets to current liabilities, was approximately
1.9 times as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 2.3 times).

The Group had net current assets of approximately HK$89.5 million
(2024: approximately HK$107.7 million) as at 31 March 2025, the
Directors are of the view that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the
coming twelve months from the date of approval for issuance of these
consolidated financial statements.

As most bank deposits and cash on hand were denominated in
Renminbi and US dollar, followed by Hong Kong and Macau Pataca
dollar, the Group’s exchange risk exposure depended on the movement
of the exchange rates of the aforesaid currencies.

The gearing ratio, which is calculated on the basis of the Group’s total
loans to the total equity, as at 31 March 2025 was nil (2024 nil).

TREASURY POLICY

The Group maintains a conservative approach on foreign exchange
exposure management and ensures that its exposure to fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates is minimized. The Group did not engage in any
derivatives agreement and did not commit to any financial instruments
to hedge its foreign exchange exposures during the Year. The Group
will continue to monitor its foreign exchange exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of issued ordinary shares of
the Company was 349,519,567 (2024: 349,519,567) at par value of
HK$0.01 each.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFNmRE DM

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS
ISSUE

The remaining unutilised net proceeds raised from the Rights Issue
were approximately HK$64.1 million (the “Remaining Net Proceeds”).
As disclosed in the announcement of the Company in relation
to the change in use of proceeds dated 10 October 2024 (the
“Announcement”), the net proceeds will be applied by the Company for
investment and upgrade in the leased plants, acquisition of machinery
and equipment and also the working capital for the gold processing
and trading business of the group. The intended and the actual use of
the proceeds under the Rights Issue as of 31 March 2025 are set out
below:

Revised allocation
of unutilised

HRZFABREARE

BHEEENARDARBAFHRFEN4AIBE
BT (RS KIEFR]) - RMARFBABA
“ZMFETATENRAE(ZASDAEE R
REBEBEMSRAME  ARABAEREFR
ARBRERFHREERE BERSILRE UK
AEEEEMTIRESEBNEEES HE-T
“hE=ZA=1t—8 #RETHAEFENEER
ERABRERBEREINAT

Actual use of
the proceeds

amount of the net from the date Remaining  Expected timeline for
proceeds as of the proceeds the remaining
disclosed in the  Announcement to as of proceeds to be
ltems Percentage Announcement 31 March 2025 31 March 2025  utilised
ZRERHE Bz
—E-RE —E-Ef
BLERERDA =ZA=t+-H =ZA=+-AH
FRBREREN REREZ ZHth KBABRTHREREN
5H Bok BETIE ERAZ FiERE BERER
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
TET TET TR
Investment and upgrade in the 22.0% 14,100 2,168 11,932 31 March 2026
leased plants
BRERABEERE ZEZRF=A=1—H
Acquisition of machinery and 54.6% 35,000 23,566 11,434 31 March 2026
equipment for the gold processing
and trading business of the Group
RAEENEEMIRESEBE ZZZRFE=ZA=1+—H
ERBNRE
Working capital of the gold 23.4% 15,000 15,000 -
processing and trading business
of the Group
AEEMESNIREZEBNE
BEe
Total 100.0% 64,100 40,734 23,366
st
Note: e

The unutilised proceeds of approximately HK$23.4 million have been placed in
licensed banks in Hong Kong and PRC and planned to be used as intended.

REBZABHIALNBABEETEFRREERPED
FrRRSRTT > FTEIRMREM 2B A -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSALS AND
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

On 18 February 2025, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Success Dragon Technology (Puer) Company Limited
(“the Purchaser”), entered into an agreement with Mojiang County
Laigian Mining Limited Liability Company (“the Vendor”), pursuant to
which, among others, the Purchaser has agreed to acquire, and the
Vendor has agreed to sell, all legal and beneficial interest in a batch
of machinery and equipment for filter press, leaching, crushing and
grinding in gold-laden carbon processing at the consideration of
RMB22,030,877.51 (equivalent to approximately HKD23,573,000).
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 18 February
2025 for details.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other material
acquisition, disposal and significant investment during the Year.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any substantial pledge of
assets and substantial contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s capital expenditure contracted
for but not provided in respect of acquisition of property, plant and
equipment amounted to HK$Nil (31 March 2024: HK$NIl).

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS IN THE BUSINESS
OF THE GROUP

Since the beginning of this year, gold prices have continued to rise,
with international spot gold prices reaching new highs. The positive
performance was linked to the factors such as strong central bank and
investor demand. The global business environment including the tariff
war derived by US and the heightened geopolitical risk including the
Russia-Ukraine war and the Middle East war have brought increasing
challenges to the worldwide business.

In the past few years, major central banks around the world have
been hoarding gold and other countries have also increased their
gold reserves to hedge against US dollar risks. The global economy
downturn has led to the appeal of gold as a safe-haven asset. This
trend is expected to continue onwards. Investors have flocked to gold
amid concerns about currency devaluation and economic instability.
In view of the above, the Group will constantly develop its core gold
processing business in order to capture the uptrend opportunity in this
industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFNmRE DM

The Group currently has processing production lines for gold-laden
carbon in Yunnan province and gold ore in Henan Province in the PRC
under leased plants respectively, and these plants generated revenue
and profits for the gold processing and trading business of the Group
during the Year.

However, there was significant decrease in revenue to the Group mainly
derived by suspension of operation in Henan during the Year. Due to
infrastructure constructions in the mining zones of two suppliers in
Henan, there were insufficient supply of gold ore from suppliers, which
led to the reduction of production and hindered the mining activities
during the Year. Nevertheless, the infrastructure constructions in the
mining zones have completed and the gold ore production in Henan
have resumed in the March 2025. The Board expected that there will
be significant rebound in revenue in the coming year.

In addition, as disclosed in the Announcement, the establishment of
self-owned gold processing plant (“New Plant”)was suspended, as
(1) the Group was unable to source suitable qualifying land which is
essential for the construction of the New Plant within the original budget
mainly due to the significant increase in the prevailing market price for
the suitable qualifying land, such that the total construction cost for the
New Plant will be significantly higher; and (2) the use of leased plants
currently appears to be a more cost-effective option for the business
operation of the Group, the Board considers that to insist pursuing
the construction of New Plant would derive heavy financial burden and
hinder the business development of the Company, and the Group shall
devote its resources to develop and expand its existing gold processing
and trading business. As a result, the Board has decided not to pursue
the construction of the New Plant further for the time being but to
reallocate the Remaining Net Proceeds to the expansion of the existing
gold processing and trading business.

In light of the above, the Remaining Net Proceeds has no longer
applied for the construction of the New Plant, and instead, has been
applied by the Company for investment and upgrade in the leased
plants, acquisition of machinery and equipment and also the working
capital for the existing gold processing and trading business of the
Group. The Board considers that such change of use of the Remaining
Net Proceeds allows the Company to deploy its unallocated financial
resources more flexibly and effectively and aligns with the current
business needs of the Group and is in the interests of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole.

The Company will keep the shareholders and potential investors of the
Company informed of any further updates regarding the development
of the existing gold processing and trading business of the Group when
necessary and in compliance with the relevant Listing Rules.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group employed approximately 84 employees as at 31 March 2025
(2024: 80).

The Group continues to review the remuneration packages of
employees with reference to the level and composition of pay, general
market condition and individual performance. Staff benefits offered by
the Group to its employees include contribution to defined contribution
retirement scheme, discretionary bonus, share option scheme, medical
allowance and hospitalization scheme and housing allowance. The
Group supports a fair, transparent and high performance culture
through its human resources department, by developing and improving
its programs particularly on recruitment, performance management,
training and development and employee relations.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation
of the Group during FY2025.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its business partners, suppliers and customers to meet
its immediate and long-term goals. Accordingly, the Group’s senior
management have kept good communication, promptly exchanged
ideas and shared business update with the stakeholders when
appropriate. The Group has encouraged staff to participate in charity
activities in Hong Kong and the PRC. During FY2025, there were no
material and significant dispute between the Group and its business
partners, suppliers and/or customers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFNmRE DM

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. The Group
encourages environmental protection and promotes awareness towards
environmental protection to the employees. Details of the environmental
policies and performance are set out in the Environment, Social and
Governance Report of this Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The followings
are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may
be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which
are not known to the Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.

Strategic Enterprise Risks

It includes stagnant or negative growth of the Group’s current
businesses and delayed implementation of new business agreements
arising from economic, governmental and political instability. The
management of the Group manages and monitors these exposures by
carrying out feasibility assessment, forecast and projection to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Operational Risks

The key operational risks of the Group are as follows:

i) High staff turnover rates particularly on key operational staff

ii) Crisis events leading to disruption of business

Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with
every functional department at divisional and departmental levels.
Key functions in the Group are guided by their standard operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. Management of

the Group will identify and assess key operational exposures regularly
so that appropriate risk response can be taken.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Risks

Financial risks include liquidity risk, foreign exchange rate risk and
credit risk. In managing liquidity risk, the Group monitors cash flows
and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalent to ensure
the ability to finance the Group’s operations and reduce the effects of
fluctuation in cash flows.

For foreign exchange rate risk, the Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

In order to minimize the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts.

Compliance Risk

Compliance risk is the risk that the Group will be reprimanded by
authorities for non-compliance. The management of the Group
works with external professional parties to monitor and ensure that
the business procedures and documentation are fully complied with
applicable local laws and regulations.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

There were no material events affecting the Group that occurred from
31 March 2025 to the date of this report.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Profile

EENREAREEEREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIU Shiwei, aged 54, obtained a master’s degree in Science
from the University of South Florida in May 2001 and a bachelor’'s
degree in International Accounting from Jiangxi University of Finance
and Economics in July 1994. He has previously served as the Deputy
General Manager of the Investment Banking Department of Ping An
Bank Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock
code: 000001) from August 2008 to April 2012. Mr. Liu also served as
the General Manager and Deputy General Manager of the Investment
Banking Department of the Shenzhen branch of the Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange with
stock code: 1398 and the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code:
601398) from December 2004 to August 2008 and from December
2003 to December 2004, respectively.

Mr. Liu’s daughter, Ms. Liu Shannon Shuting (“Ms. Shannon Liu”) is
a substantial shareholder of the Company. Stone Steps Investments
Limited, a company wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Shannon Liu,
is holding 250,729,906 Shares of the Company (representing 71.74%
of the entire issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report).

Save as disclosed above and that Mr. Liu is the uncle of Mr. Ding
Lei (who is an executive Director of the Company), Mr. Liu is not
related to any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange) of
the Company.

Mr. WANG Baozhi, aged 57, obtained a bachelor’s degree in
agriculture education from Yuxi Agriculture College in July 1987 and
a master’s degree in Economics from Jiangxi University of Finance
and Economics (formerly known as Jiangxi Finance and Economics
College) in July 1994. Mr. Wang is not related to any Directors, senior
management, substantial or controlling shareholders (as defined in the
Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange) of the Company.

He has over 25 years of experience in finance. Mr. Wang has been the
managing director of south China business headquarter of Zhongrong
International Trust Company Limited (“Zhongrong International”) from
April 2009 to March 2016. Before joining Zhongrong International, he
has previously worked as the project manager of Shenzhen Baifuda
Finance Company Limited from August 2006 to April 2009, the financial
controller of Shenzhen Chengnong Siliao Company Limited from May
2004 to August 2006, the financial controller of Shenzhen Hongji
(Group) Logistic Company Limited from April 2002 to May 2004, the
chief financial officer of Shenzhen Nanyou (Holdings) Limited from May
1995 to April 2002 and an auditor of Shenzhen Minfu audit firm from
July 1994 to May 1995.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Profile

As at the date of this report, Mr. Wang is beneficially interested in
5,950,000 ordinary shares in the capital of the Company, representing
approximately 1.7% of the entire issued share capital of the Company.

Mr. DING Lei, aged 34, was appointed as an executive Director on 1
April 2018. Mr. Ding was subsequently appointed as the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 20 September 2019. He
was also appointed as the Authorised Representative and the Process
Agent with effect from 20 September 2019. Mr. Ding was appointed
as the chairman of the nomination committee of the Board, and as a
member of the remuneration committee of the Board.

Mr. Ding has been re-designated from the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company to the Co-Chief Executive Officer with effect from 11 June
2020, and subsequently redesignated as Chief Executive Officer with
effect from 19 July 2021. He has resigned as the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer and has been re-designated as the Chief Operating
Officer with effect on 13 July 2022 and will continue thereafter until a
notice of termination of not less than three months is served by either
Mr. Ding or the Company.

Mr. Ding obtained a Master’s degree in Finance from The University of
Texas at Dallas in December 2015 and a Bachelor’s degree in English
language and Literature from Luoyang Institute of Technology* (/&[5 12
T 2% )in July 2012. Mr. Ding was an investment manager in the fixed
income department in Sichuan Trust Co., Ltd.*(FU)I[{ZsEER A A))
from January 2016 to September 2017. He was the assistant general
manager of mining business department of Bay Area Gold Group
Limited (Stock code: 1194), a company which has been delisted from
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ding was the director and general manager of
Luanchuan Province Luanling Gold Mines Co., Ltd.* (8 )| & B2 EH
fR A &]). He was also a director of Chifeng Yongfeng Mining Co., Ltd.*
(FRIEKLREEEREFAT). He was also a supervisor of Shenzhen
Munsun Asset Management Company Limited* (I T 25 5% & & & 32
ABR/AF). He was a general manager of Luanchuan County Jinxing
Mining Co., Ltd.* (§%)I| & Hi7E % B R &5 £ 2 7)) and executive deputy
general manager of Shenzhen Baosheng Minging Industrial Co., Ltd. *

(FINRBEXZEREREERFD).

Save that Mr. Ding is the nephew of Mr. Liu Shiwei (who is an executive
Director of the Company), and the cousin of Ms. Liu Shannon Shuting
(who is a substantial shareholder of the Company), Mr. Ding is not
related to any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange) of
the Company.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Profile

EENREAREEEREE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. DENG Yougao, aged 58, was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company on 1 April 2018. He obtained a
Master’s degree of Economics from Jiangxi University of Finance and
Economics* (I 78§71 48 K £2) (formerly known as Institute of Finance and
Economics of Jiangxi* (T FEBF 48 657 )) in July 1994, and a Bachelor’s
degree in Shipbuilding Engineering from Harbin Engineering University*
(" 78 LTI K 2) (formerly known as Harbin Shipbuilding Engineering
Institute* (4 BB /& Mt A TAZ 265 ) in July 1988.

Mr. Deng has numerous experiences in different roles in various
companies in different industries. He served as a chairman of the board
of Shenzhen Henggu Nano Technology Co. Ltd. (formerly known as
Shenzhen Henggu Anticorrosion Nano Technology Co., Ltd.)(“Shenzhen
Henggu Nano”) G111 E 4k B R A &) until August 2023 and
redesignated as director of Shenzhen Henggu Nano, the managing
partner of Shengshi Henggu (Shenzhen) Management Center (Limited
Partnership) (2% t 5 [& CRYI) B+ .0 (BR & %)) and Shengshi
Henggu (Shenzhen) Management Center (15 [& 2%t (F JI) & 12 &
I»), served as the independent non-executive director of Shoucheng
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Shougang Concord International
Enterprises Company Limited, stock code: 697) until 30 April 2024, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange.

He was appointed as the chairman of the board and the general
manager of Shenzhen City Weishi Chengzhang Investment Management
Co., Ltd.* CERYIT M E K RIZETEAR A F) until January 2023. He
was appointed as a supervisor of Shanghai Tiantan Nano Technology
Co., Ltd.* (EEREHARIFZABR QT )N August 2019. He was the
supervisor of Shenzhen Qianhai Shi Xin Technology Co., Ltd.* (R
AE # O BHE A IR 2 8]) until May 2019.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Profile

Ms. WONG Chi Yan, aged 43, was appointed as an Independent
Non- Executive Director of the Company on 14 May 2018. She holds
a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in Accounting awarded
by Hong Kong Baptist University and a Master of Laws degree in
International Corporate and Financial Law awarded by The University
of Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. She is an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Wong has extensive
experiences in auditing, accounting and financing as well as merger and
acquisition.

Ms. Wong is currently () an independent non-executive director of
Famous Tech International Holding Limited (formerly known as “GET
Holdings Limited”) (stock code: 8100), a company listed on the GEM
of Stock Exchange (“GEM”), (i) an independent non-executive director
of China Hongbao Holdings Limited (formerly known as “Quantong
Holdings Limited”) (stock code: 8316), a company listed on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Wong was an independent non-executive director of (i) Asia
Television Holdings Limited (stock code: 707), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange from January 2019 to December
2022, and (i) Modern Innovative Digital Technology Company Limited,
(formerly known as “Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited”), the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2322),
from September 2023 to December 2023. Ms. Wong also served
as the company secretary and authorised representative of (i) China
Properties Investment Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 736), a company listed on Stock
Exchange from 1 February 2018 to 30 September 2023, and (i) Dufu
Liquor Group Limited (formerly known as “China Environmental Energy
Investment Limited”), the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 986), from 13 July 2023 to 1 August 2023.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Profile

EENREAREEEREE

Professor Cheung Ka Yue (“Prof. Cheung”), aged 53, has over
three decades of business and professional experience in public
accounting firm and across different industries in the commercial sector.
He has extensive experience and profound knowledge in the regulatory,
corporate finance, compliance, corporate governance and academic
fields. He is actively involved in public and social services. He serves as
the secretary-general of the honorary consulate of the Republic of Fiji in
Hong Kong. He is conferred with the Knight Commander of Rizal of the
Republic of the Philippines.

Prof. Cheung is a postdoctoral researcher and an honorary professor.
He holds a doctoral degree in business administration, a master’s
degree in education, a master’'s degree in laws, a master’s degree in
professional accountancy, and a bachelor’s degree in accounting. He is
a practising accountant in Hong Kong.

Prof. Cheung is currently an independent non-executive director
of Peking University Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (stock
code: 618, shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange), Ganglong China Property Group Limited (stock code: 6968,
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange),
China Hongbao Holdings Limited (stock code: 8316, shares of which
are listed on the GEM of Stock Exchange), and MaxWin International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8513, shares of which are listed on
the GEM of Stock Exchange). He is currently an executive director
of Huiyuan Cowins Technology Group Limited, formerly known as
Mayer Holdings Limited (stock code: 1116, shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange). He was an independent
non-executive director of Crown International Corporation Limited (stock
code: 727, shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) from December 2022 to July 2023. He was an independent
director of Primega Group Holdings Limited (stock code: PGHL, shares
of which are listed on the NASDAQ) from September 2024 to April
2025.

* The English translation of the Chinese name is for information only, and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of such name.
Please refer to the Chinese version of this Annual Report for the Chinese
name.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are the business of gold processing
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

RESULTS, DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The results of the Group for the financial year under review are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 86 of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

The Company currently does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. In considering any dividend, the Board shall consider
the actual and expected financial performance of the Group, retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the
members of the Group, the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio,
return on equity and the relevant financial covenants, any restrictions on
payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders, the
Group’s expected working capital requirements and future expansion
plans, general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an impact
on the business or financial performance and position of the Group, and
any other factors that the Board deem appropriate. The Board has the
absolute discretion to recommend any dividends.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on pages
171 to 172. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.
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Directors’ Report

EEERS

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company for the financial year under
review are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements
and under the heading of “CAPITAL STRUCTURE” in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the financial
year under review are set out in consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 89.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A summary of the Company’s share option scheme and details of the
movement in share options of the Company during the Year are set out
in note 27 to the consolidated financial statement and in the section
headed “Share Options” in the Directors’ Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, no Company’s reserves are available
for distribution.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Repurchase Mandate

The Directors have been granted the general mandate (the “Repurchase
Mandate”) pursuant to resolutions of the Shareholders passed on 20
September 2024, to repurchase Shares in the open market from time
to time. Pursuant to the Repurchase Mandate, the Company is allowed
to repurchase up to 10% of the total number of issued Shares (i.e.
34,951,956 Shares) as at the date of passing such resolution.
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Share Repurchase

During the Year, the Company repurchased 7,385,000 Shares under
the Repurchase Mandate on the Stock Exchange for an aggregate
consideration of HK$3,227,300 which are held as treasury shares (as
defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company. Details of the Shares
repurchased during the Year are as follows:

Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

B0 R

RAFE AR REBXAMHBLRENERE
3,227,300/ 7T B [@7,385,0000% AX 15+ 3% & A% 15 LA
ARREFRG (EEREWHRAFE - AFEDR
BOROFBOT

No. of Highest Lowest Aggregate

repurchased price paid price paid consideration

shares per Share per Share paid

BRROIAN BRBROIMGH

Month of Repurchase [ACERV BEROEE REER BIEER TR ENRE

(HKS) (HKS) (HK$)

(B7T) =) (FT)

December 2024 —E-NF+=A 1,600,000 0.335 0.275 521,525

January 2025 —E-HF—H 1,495,000 0.435 0.340 598,525

February 2025 —E-HFZHAH 2,975,000 0.530 0.440 1,438,900

March 2025 —E_RF=H 1,315,000 0.550 0.475 673,350

Total BET 7,385,000 3,227,300
The Directors believe that such Shares repurchased would increase EHER 45 BRIZZRMHEEMERFER, K

the net asset value per Share and/or earnings per Share and increase
the long-term value to the Shareholders, which is in the interest of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

During the Year, save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities (including selling treasury Shares).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the Year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BREREREZERERQTF

AN WRABRNEHEE  FAARRRE

FEETT IR

MARFEERN - R EXAEEESIN  AREREEM
MEARMERE LEXBELEAARR LTE
F(BRERHEEFRN)

M2 - HBERRE

REBEWE  BERZER
RE B HRERMFEIS -

\AFRZEHHBTHEN

—z-mE_aFEEs 21



Directors’ Report

EEERS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the percentage of turnover attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers to the total turnover was approximately 91.3%.
The percentage of turnover attributable to the Group’s largest customer
to the total turnover was approximately 43.4%.

During the Year, the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers to the total purchases was approximately
93.9%. The percentage of purchase attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier to the total purchases was approximately 46.6%.

Save as disclosed above, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none
of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had an interest in any of the major customers or suppliers
above.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this Annual Report
were as follows:

Executive Directors:

LIU Shiwei (Chairman)
WANG Baozhi (Chief Executive Officer)
DING Lei (Chief Operating Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
DENG Yougao
WONG Chi Yan

CHEUNG Ka Yue

In accordance with Bye-laws 87(1), Mr. Liu Shiwei and Prof. Cheung
Ka Yue shall retire as Directors, and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Details of re-election of the Directors at the AGM will be set out in the
circular to the shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company with no fixed term but is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report,
there was or is permitted indemnity provision (within the meaning in
Section 469 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) in the Bye-laws of the Company being in force. The
Company has maintained directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
throughout the Year, which provides appropriate cover certain legal
actions brought against its Directors and officers arising out of
corporate activities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Options” in this
Director’s Report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company, which
were not contract of service with any Director or any person engaged
in full time employment of the Company, were entered into or existed
during the Year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

BREREREZERERQTF
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement and contracts of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors are not aware of any
business or interest of the Directors, the management of the Company
and their respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) that
competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

There were no contracts of significance (whether in relation to
provision of services to the Group or not) between the Company or
its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025, the persons/companies, other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company, who had interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares in the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:

Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

FERR
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Name Capacity Number of Shares Shareholding
w“E BB 54 ROEAE ERE
(%)
(Note 1)
(BfF3ET)
Ms. Liu Shannon Shuting (“Ms. Shannon Liu”)  Interest of controlled corporation 250,729,906 (L) 71.74%
WEF e 2+ (T £ 1) REHDEEZ (Notes 2) (Fff£+2)
Positive Kindness Limited Interest of controlled corporation 250,729,906 (L) 71.74%
(“Positive Kindness”) ZEFAE 2 R (Notes 2) (i 7£2)
Positive Kindness Limited
([Positive Kindness | )
Stone Steps Investments Limited Beneficial owner 250,729,906 (L) 71.74%

(“Stone Steps”) EmlEAA

Stone Steps Investments Limited

([ Stone Steps )

(L) Long positions

Notes:

1. The percentage of shareholding is calculated based on the number of
issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2025 (including Treasury
Shares).

2. Stone Steps is the substantial shareholder of the Company. Stone Steps

was wholly-owned by Positive Kindness. Ms. Shannon Liu is the sole
beneficial shareholder of Positive Kindness. Therefore, Ms. Shannon
Liu is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Stone Steps is
interested by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, according to the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO.

BREREREZERERQTF

(Notes 2) (fff7F2)
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the Directors and chief executive of the Company
or their associates, who had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required (a) to be notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange and as recorded in
the register of the Company were as follows:

and underlying Shares

EEWBEROIES ZER

RIE-_RAF=ZA=+—"8 EBERARTZED
TN B 55 7 B 8 AR AN A &) 3 EL AT ) AR B
B (TERFHFRIEGD([FEHRBEKD]) S
XVER) Z & fn « MERMNIELFFTHEBQRERES
RS GBI EXVE BT RESD B2 MEBMG AR
BIREBMARSHARRANR ([BRA]) 2EFZR
KB (BREFEEREESREEEG 2 8BGO
RALGIEEEZHERIAR)  RO)REFEEF L
HAE 1 835216 78 50 8% M s& AR P il 2 & s it 2 4
WREIRE SR IE ETRAIFHEH 2 ETBITAE
FHEHTESF R HEESTA(RESTR) ) BAE R
AR BBV RSN AR R ERMZESRAR
T

Number of Shares Approximate

percentage of

Name of Director Capacity interested shareholding
BEEEZRHOR
EEng g7 HEARDE B BRz2EABSL
(%)
(Note 1)
(HFEE1)
WANG Baozhi Beneficial owner 5,950,000 (L) 1.70%
FRE E@fAA
(L)  Long positions L e
Notes: P EE -
1. The percentage of shareholding is calculated based on the number of 1. ERESLIREAATGN - E-_RAFE=A=+—
issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2025 (including Treasury HZEBRTROHEEAE (BEERKD) -
Shares).

Save as disclosed below and in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements as well as in the section headed “Share Options” in this
Directors’ Report, at no time during the Year were there rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or
minor (natural or adopted), or were such rights exercised by them; nor
was the Company or any of the subsidiaries of the Company a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.
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SHARE OPTIONS

The Company operated a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants include Directors, full-time employees, senior executives
and consultants of the Company.

The Scheme became effective on 28 September 2012 (as amended at
special general meetings of the Company held on 8 August 2014 and
15 July 2015) and unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date. The Scheme has expired on 27
September 2022. There is currently no other share option scheme that
remains in effect as at the date of this report.

During the Year, no share options were granted, exercised or cancelled
or lapsed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date
prior to the issue of this Annual Report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of its shares in the hands of
the public throughout the Year and up to the date of this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this Annual Report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, no other related party transaction disclosed in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements constitutes a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Changes in Directors’ information in respect of the Year and up to the
date of this annual report are set out below:

(1)  Prof. CHEUNG Ka Yue has been appointed as independent
non-executive director of Peking University Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited (Stock Code: 618) since 30 September 2024.

(2)  Prof. CHEUNG Ka Yue was an independent director of Primega
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: PGHL, shares of which are
listed on the NASDAQ) from September 2024 to April 2025.

(8) Prof. CHEUNG Ka Yue has been appointed as independent
non-executive director of Ganglong China Property Group Limited
(stock code: 6968) since 27 June 2025.

Save as disclosed above, other changes in directors’ information in
respect of the period as at the publication date of this report, which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to the requirement of Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules are set out in the section of “Directors’ and Senior
Management’s Profile” of this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed risk
management, internal controls and financial reporting matters including
a review of the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2025.

DONATIONS

There were no charitable and other donations made by the Group
during the Year (2024: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no other subsequent
event.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 is
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
in this annual report. The contents of the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” form the business review as contained in this
Directors’ report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025 have been audited by the auditor of the Company, CCTH CPA
Limited.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. LIU Shiwei

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

TRERBHRE

The Board considers that good corporate governance of the Company
is vital to protect the interests of the shareholders and enhance
the performance of the Group. It has adopted various measures to
adhere to a high standard of corporate governance to safeguard the
interests of shareholders, clients, service vendors, employees and other
stakeholders.

The Board adopts the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 (“CG Code”) to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
C3 (“Model Code”) to the Listing Rules as the Company’s corporate
governance code and as the Company’s code of conduct for Directors’
securities transactions (on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code) respectively.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

The Board is satisfied that the Company has complied with the
applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code throughout the
financial year ended 31 March 2025.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE CULTURE AND VALUES

With the aim to provide high quality gold processing services and further
develop the business in the People’s Republic of China, the Board
strives to foster corporate culture with the following core principles and
to ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business strategies are
aligned to it.

Integrity and code of conduct

The Group endeavors to maintain high standards of business ethics
especially when the success of our principal activities builds on the
foundation of reputation of high quality and genuine products.

The Group upholds high standard of corporate governance across all
our activities and operations. The Directors, management and staff are
all required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the required
standards and norms are explicitly set out in the training materials for
all new staff and embedded in various policies such as the Group’s
employee manual, the anti-corruption policy and the whistleblowing
policy of the Group. The said policies are available and send to all
staff for their reference. Regular updates and training are provided to
reinforce the standard.

Accountability

The Group culture of accountability starts from the solid leadership of
the Board, with delegation of authorities to its Board committees and
senior management of the respective product lines, to each individual
employee throughout the Group. The Group has open communication
and a transparent performance evaluation system for each individual
staff, to ensure that employees are committed to and accountable for
achieving the targets for the long-term success of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition and its Responsibilities

The Board has established a comprehensive approval system.
Matters reserved for the Board’s approval include, among others, the
Company’s material investment decisions and long-term objectives,
financial accounts, declaration of dividend, grant of share options,
competent management, maintenance of internal control systems
and risk management systems, and compliance with statutory and
regulatory obligations.

Directors, as members of the Board, jointly share the responsibility for
proper direction and management of the Company. Daily operations
and administration are delegated to the management.

The management implements the Board’s decisions, makes business
proposals and reports to the Board on the overall performance
of the Group. Daily operations and administration of the business
were delegated to the Executive Directors (“ED(s)”) and the senior
management of the Company.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised 6 Directors,
consisting of 3 EDs and 3 independent non-executive Directors
(“INED(s)"). Biographical information of the Directors is set out in the
sections headed “Directors’ and Senior Management’s Profile” and the
“Directors’ Report” of this Annual Report.

Board Independence

The Company recognises that Board independence is crucial in good
corporate governance and effectiveness of the Board. The Board has
established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input from
any Director of the Company are delivered to the Board for building an
objective and effective decision.

In order to ensure the effectiveness of the governance framework, the
following mechanisms are reviewed annually by the Board through the
nomination committee (“Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration
committee (“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company:

1. Three out of the six Directors are independent non-executive
Directors, which meets the requirements of the Listing Rules that
the Board must have at least three independent non-executive
Directors and must appoint independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

Exg
EERARREER

EXEFARAZEMRHE AKRETERHEZER
BRE(EPERE) ARAZERKRERENRKIER
= MBKRE EIREE - REBEE - B2EE
MRS BRSO I R B B IR 6 R A B AT A E &

EEERME-

EREFINE  EFHAAEZSHRERERAR
RAZEE - FRZERTRIEIHEERERS -

EHEEEEEGZRT  URAEBBERER
EEEEHERERRRE - XEB2REEERT
BRIERBHTES ([RTES]) MARASRE
BEaR -

RAREAH EFGHARES BE=2H
TEER=ZFERTES ((BFRTESR]) -
EEREFENERAFRIEZLSNEEERE]
MEEERE I E8 -

ExenByM

ARRRREFENBUNHRFNCEERNE
ZENARMEREE -BEESC BTG BR
ARBENEERNESSRUHBYERLEE U
EHEBERAMNAE

EEgalARmmREZ B ((REZEEDR
¥y Ee ((FMEZEE ) BFRAERERRT
M - PAREER B R

1. RNRBESTE-ZRBINFVTEFT T4
tHRAUANFHEZTSVEBREL =ZRBY
FATEERMEZENBIUIFRTEEMA
HEEEREABEL=Z0Z—WHE -

32 Success Dragon International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25



Corporate Governance Report

2. The Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
will assess the independence, qualification and time commitment
of a candidate who is nominated to be a new independent
non-executive director before appointment and also the continued
independence of existing independent non-executive Directors
and their time commitments annually. On an annual basis, all
independent non-executive Directors are required to confirm in
writing their compliance of independence requirements pursuant
to the Listing Rules, and to disclose the number and nature of
offices held by them in public companies or organisations and
other significant commitments.

3. The Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
will conduct the performance evaluation of the independent
non-executive Directors annually to assess their contributions.

4. External independent professional advice is available as and when
required by individual Directors.

5. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to independent non-executive Directors.

6. A Director (including independent non-executive Director) who has
a material interest in a contract, arrangement or other proposal
shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any Board
resolution approving the same.

7. The Chairman of the Board meets with independent
non-executive Director annually without the presence of the
executive Directors.

Board Meetings

During the Year, the Board had held 3 Board meetings. The draft
minutes of Board meetings were prepared by the company secretary
of the Company and circulated to all Directors for comments within a
reasonable time. The approved minutes are maintained by the company
secretary and available for inspection by all Directors at request.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors shall hold office subject to
retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting of the Company at
least once every three years and eligible for re-election.

TEERRE

2. RFLZESRIMNZESHREBFIHERS
ﬁﬁﬁi#ﬁﬁ%%%@ﬁAmﬁiﬁ &
BRIGEARR WRIBEABIIERNTESH
SEBULMERERARRE - 28BILIFNTT
EREGFRELMBANEEERFESH
BERUMBETE UTEEESRARA A KA
BETRSNEE RME AR E A RE -

3. REAZBERFMNZESKEBFHBEIIFHN
TEFETRAMNE  UFHRSENER -

4. WEERNEFERE  ASIIMNBEIEXER -

5. BUFATESHITERTERBHBHA
R R ETERHB -

6. REH ZHIEMBERTHEBEAEDN
EX(BREBUFNTES) TEMME LR
EFENEAEFEREARBRRIFNEEAR °

7. ERZSFIRESFEHTESEFOBRTH
BUIERITESRITER o

Exgel

RAFE EFRCRIBREFEEZ -EFT
ERLGFCHENRALR TZ Twsw% hiz
REEEFAREEE=EM - SRR S
ERLBARTAMERT TinMiﬁﬁ%
R -

REARMAR EFAZLB=FRARAKRRE
FRELBERE - RARAERBEEEE-

BEERERERAT —T-_mME-_RFEHEs 33



Corporate Governance Report
TEERKRE

The attendance for each Director of the regular Board meetings and the
general meeting held during the Year are set out below.

BEREERAFERETIENEFEERLRRXK

SZHFEBEREIIMT o

Attendance of
Attendance of the AGM on
regular Board 20 September

Capacity meetings 2024
R-ZEB-ME
hA=+BZ
EHEEES BRRBFRE
Director = g1 HERBR HERBR
LIU Shiwei Wk ED & Chairman 3/3 1/1
HITESEFRER
WANG Baozhi TRE ED & Chief Executive 3/3 1/1
Officer
HITESRITBAER
DING Lei T ED & Chief Operating 3/3 11
Officer
WTEERER
BT
DENG Yougao BES INED 3/3 11
BUERTES
WONG Chi Yan =HEE INED 3/3 11
BUERTES
CHEUNG Ka Yue RER INED 3/3 11
BUERTES

Ms. LIU Shannon Shuting (“Ms. Shannon Liu”), the substantial
shareholder of the Company, is the daughter of Mr. LIU Shiwei, the
executive director and Chairman of the Board. Mr. DING Lei is the
nephew of Mr. LIU Shiwei and cousin of Ms. Shannon Liu .

During the Year, save as disclosed above, none of the Directors above
has or maintained any other financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship with any of the other Directors and/or substantial
shareholders.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged by the Company in
respect of any possible legal actions against the Directors.

AR EZRENESEZE (L)) RATES
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the Year, Mr. LIU Shiwei, the executive Director, has been
appointed as the Chairman while Mr. WANG Baozhi, the executive
Director, has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer.

The Board considered that there are adequate balance of power and
safeguards in place and considered that the structure did not impair the
balance of power of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has fulfilled the requirement of appointing at least three
independent non-executive directors and they represented at least
one-third of the Board as stipulated by the Listing Rules. It has met the
requirement of having at least one of the independent non-executive
directors with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The independent non-executive
Directors have appropriate and sufficient experience and qualification
to carry out their duties so as to fully represent the interests of the
shareholders.

All non-executive Directors were appointed under letters of appointment
with no specific term but subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at a general meeting of the Company at least once
every three years in accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws and
applicable rules and regulations.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual written confirmations of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of
the INEDs and considers that each of the INEDs to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had made specific enquiry of all the Directors and each
of the Directors confirmed that he/she has complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code during the financial year ended
31 March 2025.

INSURANCE ON DIRECTORS’ AND
OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES

The Company has arranged for appropriate liabilities insurance for the
Directors to cover their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed annually.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL

DEVELOPMENT

In compliance with the CG Code, all Directors have participated in  &f&F

continuous professional development such as attending seminars to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their

contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. T

According to the training records currently maintained by the Company,
during the Year, the Directors have complied with the code provision

BhEERTA - 2

BEEEFLER -

EERIIREERR

EED2EBERERHR
FPIALERETE) - BRI E RS2 AH3 R
B URREFEAREEEMRIARTEZBR

REARBBAFENREIRE RAFE &%

EETEEERTAZTAMGEXCY  2ENLTH

C.1 of the CG Code on participation in continuous professional training EEEREY
as follows:
Type of training/education
2 HEER
Reading
regulatory updates
Attending training or corporate
on regulatory governance
development, related materials
directors’ duties or materials
or other relevant to
relevant topics directors’ duties
FEEEIEN
SNEREE BHER
BRE EERE REEEREE
REMAEEEE MEREHEES
By £ 5 BENMH
LIU Shiwei Mt v
WANG Baozhi FIRE 4
DING Lei T 4
DENG Yougao BaES v
WONG Chi Yan =2ER v v
CHEUNG Ka Yue R v v

The Company also continuously updates all Directors on the latest
developments and changes of the Listing Rules and other applicable [z &

=4

My s

regulatory requirements, to enhance their awareness of good corporate  ZE&
governance practices.

Every newly appointed Director has been given a briefing session

conducted by the Company, with a comprehensive induction package It &

covering the statutory and regulatory obligations of being a Director to

ensure the awareness of responsibilities under the Listing Rules and B &
other relevant regulatory requirements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance functions, which
include but not limited to the following duties:

(@  To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendation to the Board;

(b)  To review and monitor the training and conditions professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c)  To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(e) To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Audit Committee and Board have reviewed and
performed the above corporate governance functions.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration of the employees and the holding of offices of the
Group (including Directors) were based on internal equity factors and
external market conditions and will be reviewed from time to time.

The remuneration of the employees including EDs generally consists of:

—  fixed salary/allowance — which is set according to the duties,
responsibilities, skills, experiences and market influences;

—  pension — which is based on the Mandatory Provident Fund
Contribution Scheme or the local statutory pension scheme;

— short-term variable incentive — which may include commission,
discretionary cash bonus depending on the achievement of
short-term corporate objectives and/or personal targets;

— long-term variable incentive — which may include share options
designed to encourage long-term commitment; and

— other benefits in kind — which may include accommodation,
company car and related services.

The remuneration of INEDs was at a fixed monthly/quarterly/annual
payment.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company
had maintained a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) as required under the CG Code. As at the date of this
report, the Remuneration Committee is composed of two INEDs,
namely Mr. DENG Yougao (Chairman) and Prof. CHEUNG Ka Yue
and one ED, Mr. DING Lei. Adopting code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) in the
CG Code and Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the Remuneration
Committee is responsible for reviewing and making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration, compensation and benefits of
Directors and senior management, and/or approving matters relating
to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee are available and accessible
on the Company’s website.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee had held 2 meetings.

yWEES

REEFERHEAREBE  ARRREBELCES
ATARTE —EREFHZEg((HFHEEE]) -
RAREAE  FTHEZEeEMEBUIIENTES
HEmtE (ER) MEEHHBRE—ZHNTES
TRELHER FEBRFEMEES AT ZTRIEX
Ed20)ik tHRANFEI7TE  FHEESE S BE
BEELNEREEBEABZEHH  HEKEF - Wikt
mEFSREHEERS  &SREETARRE7
EFHABRMEZEE -FHZES2HERED
HRARR Z B A ER] -

The attendance of the Remuneration Committee meetings held during RAFEEFERIT2EHEMEZEe ek 2 HEIBE LS W
the Year are set out below. T o

Attendance*
Member RE H FEAE R
DENG Yougao (Committee Chairman) HES(ZESEE) 2/2
DING Lei T & 2/2
CHEUNG Ka Yue REEH 2/2
* number of attended meetings/number of meetings held during respective * EHFeRRE SESTHRNERITZ2EE Y

Director’s tenure

The works performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year
include the following:

reviewed the terms of reference of Remuneration Committee;

° reviewed and determined the policy for the remuneration of
Directors and senior management;

° reviewed and recommended the remuneration package of the
Directors and senior management; and

° reviewed and approved the terms of executive Directors’ service
contract.

FMZEENAFERTHIERRATSE

s EHFMZBEEmBESE:
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No Director nor any of his/her associates was involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration.

During the Year, the remuneration payable to 2 senior management staff
(excluding Directors) fell within the band of HK$nil to HK$1,000,000.

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 10 to the financial statements.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The remuneration paid to and/or entitled by each of the Directors and
emoluments of senior management by band for the Year are set out in
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements in the Annual Report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company
had maintained a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
as required under the CG Code. As at the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee is composed of two INEDs, namely Mr. DENG
Yougao and Prof. CHEUNG Ka Yue and one ED, Mr. DING Lei
(Chairman). The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee had held 1 meeting.
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The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available and EZEZB ey BEGEC SN AR T 2 Buf i HES
accessible on the Company’s website. B o

The attendance of the Nomination Committee meeting held during the RAFERIT7IEEEZE @@ 2 BEBRETMN

Year are set out below. To

Attendance*
Member RE HEE R
DING Lei (Committee Chairman) TE(ZEZ8F/E) 1/1
DENG Yougao BES 11
CHEUNG Ka Yue R 1/1
* number of attended meetings/number of meetings held during respective ~ * EHFESH A SEESTHNETZEHIE

Director’s tenure

The works performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year 1RZLZE@NAREEHRITH ITIESBHFEUTSIE
include the following:

o reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board e BEEEeREZTEEARRRREIALT
according to the board diversity and the development of the MR E R EE  BEENAER
Company and the market situation;

° accessed the independence of independent non-executive . SEBNY IERITESHN B Y &
Directors; and

. made recommendations to the Board on the appointment e MEELETHETZEUALRETE(LEEARAR

or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for RIERRITHRER) BEtEMESSRLE
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer BEE e

of the Company.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee shall make recommendations for the
Board’s consideration and approval. The Nomination Committee
reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifies
suitably qualified candidates to become Board members. The
Nomination Committee also ensures the Board comprises members
with mixed skills and experience with appropriate weights necessary to
accomplish the Group’s business development, strategies, operation,
challenges and opportunities.

In considering the appointment of new Directors, the Nomination
Committee assessed the relevant candidates on criteria such as
integrity, independent mindedness, experience, skill and ability to
commit time and effort to carry out their duties and responsibilities
effectively etc., and made recommendation to the Board for approval.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has, upon the recommendation of the Company’s
Nomination Committee, adopted a board diversity policy for purpose
of maintaining a diversity of the Board which can in turn enhance the
Board’s decision-making capability. In assessing potential candidates
for the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider the guidelines
and factors set out in the board diversity policy with a view that any
appointment to the Board will be based on merit, having regard to the
ability of candidates to complement and expand the skills, knowledge
and experience of the Board as a whole. Diversity of the Board can
be achieved through consideration of a number of relevant factors,
including but not limited to independence, age, gender, ethnicity and
cultural background, education, skills, knowledge and experience.

The Board has set measurable objectives (in terms of cultural
background, education, skills and experience) to implement the Board
Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time to ensure
their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives. The Nomination Committee will review
the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its continued
effectiveness from time to time. Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing
Rules, the board shall review the implementation and effectiveness of
the Company’s board diversity policy on an annual basis.

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the board diversity policy and
considered that the current composition of the Board is characterised
by diversity after taking into account the Company’s own business
model and specific needs.
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Measurable Objectives
The Board Diversity Policy sets out the following measurable objectives:

1. at least one third of the Directors shall be independent
non-executive Directors;

2. at least one Director is female; and

3. at least one Director shall have obtained accounting or other
professional qualifications.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, all the measurable objectives
have been fulfilled.

Progress

Board:

The Board and the Nomination Committee believe that the diversity
of the Board is sufficient given that there are Directors from different

industries and with different experience, skills and knowledge. As at 31
March 2025, the analysis of the Board diversity is set out as follows:
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Workforce: 8T

During the Year, despite that the gold processing and trading business
is traditionally short of female talents, the Group had strived to attract
female talents and maintained a relatively balanced gender ratio as
shown in the below chart:—

RAFE BENIREERESER —ARZ2M
AT REBEBABAZEAT - L HFEYTE
EMERILL G - R TEAR - —

Gender Diversity in Workforce
ETz2MRIZ i

41
(49%)

The Company shall continue to recruit more female talents and maintain
gender diversity in workforce.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company
had maintained an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) as
required under the Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, the Audit
Committee is composed of three INEDs, namely Ms. WONG Chi Yan
(Chairman), Mr. DENG Yougao and Prof. CHEUNG Ka Yue. The Audit
Committee is responsible for considering appointment of the external
auditor, reviewing the interim and annual financial statements before
submission to the Board and the Group’s internal control systems. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available and accessible
on the Company’s website.

During the Year, the Audit Committee had held 3 physical meetings.
Annual/interim results and annual/interim reports, and also internal audit
of the Group were discussed during the meetings.
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TRERBHRE

The attendance of the Audit Committee meetings held during the Year

RAFEBRITZEGZBERRZHFE BRI 0

are set out below. T

Attendance*
Member RE HEE R
WONG Chi Yan (Chairman) =HEE(FE) 3/3
DENG Yougao HEm 3/3
CHEUNG Ka Yue REEH 3/3
* number of attended meetings/number of meetings held during respective ~ * PHEEENY SEEXHRNBIT2EH I

Director’s tenure

For the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee had @i “HAFZAZ=Z+T—BULUVHFE  BZRZE
performed the following duties: =R EJ(Z'ETT IATEBEE -

44

reviewed and commented on the half-yearly and the annual
financial report of the Group of the financial year under review
before submission to the Board for adoption and publication;

met with the external auditor and independent accountant to
discuss the financial matters of the Group and reviewed their
findings, recommendations and representations;

reviewed and approved the terms of engagement and scope
of services of the external auditor, internal audit function and
independent accountant;

reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit function;

reviewed the Company’s internal control systems and risk
management systems; and

reviewed the policy of corporate governance of the Company and
performed the corporate governance functions in accordance
with Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

CCTH CPA Limited (“CCTH CPA”) was engaged as the auditor of the
Company and provided the audit services to the Group during the
Year:—

CREABE

o B B % BA

PERBEFMERAR (HEXRE D RAFEE
RERARRNRIHZEED - MAREREREZRS  —

HK$’000
TR

Audit services for the year ended 31 March 2025 #HE T -FHE=A=+—H I FE2EZR%E 900

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing the
accounts of the Group. In preparing the accounts for the financial year
under review, the Directors have:

—  based on a going concern basis;

—  selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; and

— made judgments and estimates that were prudent, fair and
reasonable.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquires, confirm that they
are not aware of any material uncertainties to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 80 to 85.
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TRERBHRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for establishing, maintaining and reviewing
an effective system of risk management and internal control while
safeguarding the assets in the interests of the Group and the
shareholders.

The Group has established policies and procedures for approval
and control of expenditures. Pursuant to a risk-based methodology,
the Board plans its internal control review with resources being
focused on higher risk areas. The Board has delegated to the senior
management of the Group the implementation of such systems of
internal controls. The management throughout the Group maintains
and monitors the internal control system on an ongoing basis to ensure
that the policies and procedures in place are adequate. Any findings
and recommendations would be discussed by the management and
followed up properly and timely.

For the internal audit function, the Group engaged an independent
advisory firm to perform independent reviews and reported regularly
the review results to the Board through the Audit Committee on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk
management systems. The Board, through the Internal Audit function
of the Group, has conducted annual review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control of the Group including the relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management procedures.
Such procedures are designed to manage rather than to eliminate
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The review report showed that the Group maintained an
effective internal control system and no major control deficiency had
been identified during the Year. The scope and findings of the review
had been reported to and reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The scope of annual review also includes:

(i) the changes, since the last annual review, in the nature and extent
of significant risks (including ESG risks), and the issuer’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external environment;

(i) the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of
risks including ESG risks) and of the internal control systems, and
where applicable, the work of its internal audit function and other
assurance providers;

(i) the extent and frequency of communication of monitoring
results to the Board (or board committee(s)) which enables it
to assess control of the Company and the effectiveness of risk
management;
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(iv)  significant control failings or weaknesses that have been identified
during the period. Also, the extent to which they have resulted
in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies that have had, could
have had, or may in the future have, a material impact on the
Company’s financial performance or condition; and

(v)  the effectiveness of the Company’s processes for financial
reporting and Listing Rules compliance.

The Board also reviewed and was satisfied with the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of the employees of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and considered the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.

MANAGEMENT OF INSIDE INFORMATION

In order to promote transparency, accountability and responsibility in
respect of the operation of a listed company, and for the maintenance
of good corporate governance, the Company, assisted by legal advisors
and financial advisors, would notify the Stock Exchange and make
relevant disclosure to the public as soon as practicable of any inside
information of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company is aware of
the relevant obligations under the SFO and the Listing Rules. Inside
information is kept strictly confidential and is restricted to relevant
parties on a need-to-know basis so as to ensure confidentiality until
consistent and timely disclosure by way of corporate announcement
is made to inform the public of the inside information in an equal
and timely manner. A strict prohibition on the unauthorized use of
confidential information is included in the Company’s code of conduct
applicable to all employees of the Group.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to Bye-laws 58, the Board may whenever it thinks fit call
SGMs, and shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, on a one vote
per share basis, shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary, to require a SGM to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company’s head
office and principal place of business (the “Head Office”) at 19/F.,
Guangdong Finance Building, 88 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong
for the attention of the company secretary and may consist of several
documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the company secretary will ask the Board to call the SGM
and include the resolution in the agenda for such SGM.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or
any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
said date.

Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings

To put forward proposals at an AGM or a SGM, the shareholders
should submit a written notice of those proposals with the detail contact
information to the company secretary at the Head Office at 19/F.,
Guangdong Finance Building, 88 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.
The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the company secretary will ask the Board to include the
resolution in the agenda for the general meeting.
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The notice period to be given to all shareholders for consideration of the
proposal raised by the shareholders concerned at AGM or SGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, as follows:

(@  Not less than 21 clear days’ notice or not less than 20 clear
business days’ notice (whichever is longer) in writing if the
proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution of the Company in an
AGM and not less than 21 clear days’ notice or not less than 10
clear business days’ notice (whichever is longer) in writing if the
proposal constitutes a special resolution of the Company in any
SGM; or

(b)  Not less than 14 clear days’ notice or not less than 10 clear
business days’ notice (whichever is longer) in writing if the
proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution of the Company in all
other SGMs.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong. Shareholders may
at any time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent
such information is publicly available. Shareholders may also make
enquiries to the Board in writing with their contact information and
deposited at the Head Office at 19/F., Guangdong Finance Building, 88
Connaught Road West, Hong Kong for the attention of the company
secretary.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company believes that an effective shareholder communication
policy enhances its strong culture of disclosure and its commitment to
keeping shareholders informed. The shareholders communication policy
(the “Policy”) was established by the Board to reflect the Board’s belief
that shareholders should have access to the latest information about
the Company, utilising, where practicable, electronic communications
together with more traditional means of communication. The Company
has in place policies and procedures for the purpose of compliance
with our continuous and periodic disclosure obligations as required by
the Stock Exchange.
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TRERBHRE

Clear communication and easy access to information are important
objectives of the Company’s communication strategy. Information is
communicated to shareholders regularly through:

° Announcements, circulars and other releases made to the Stock
Exchange and media;

° Financial reports including annual reports and interim reports;
° Annual general meetings and other general meetings; and
° The Company’s website www.successdragonintl.com.

The annual general meetings and other general meetings provide
important opportunities to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and for shareholders to express their views. The Board
encourages shareholder attendance and participation at general
meetings.

The Policy is reviewed regularly by the Board to ensure its
implementation and effectiveness.

Upon reviewing the implementation and effectiveness of the Policy, the
Board considers the Policy and its implementation are effective as the
Policy provides effective channels for the Shareholders to communicate
their views with the Company and the Company complied with the
principles and required practices as set out in the Policy during the
Year.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Board adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing
Policy”). The purpose of the Whistleblowing Policy is to (i) foster
a culture of compliance, ethical behaviour and good corporate
governance across the Group; and (i) promote the importance of ethical
behaviour and encourages the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and
unethical behavior. The nature, status and the results of the complaints
received under the Whistleblowing Policy are reported to the chairman
of the Audit Committee. No incident of fraud or misconduct that have
material effect on the Group’s financial statements or overall operations
for the year ended 31 March 2025 has been discovered.

The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed annually by the Audit Committee
to ensure its effectiveness.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Board adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-corruption
Policy”). The Group is committed to achieving the high standards
of integrity and ethical behavior in conducting business. The
Anti-corruption Policy forms an integral part of the Group’s corporate
governance framework. The Anti-corruption Policy sets out the specific
behavioral guidelines that the Group’s personnel and business partners
must follow to combat corruption. It demonstrates the Group’s
commitment to the practice of ethical business conduct and the
compliance of the anti-corruption laws and regulations that apply to its
local and foreign operations. In line with this commitment and to ensure
transparency in the Group’s practices, the Anti-corruption Policy has
been prepared as a guide to all Group employees and third parties
dealing with the Group.

The Anti-corruption Policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align
with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best
practice.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy of the Company which sets out the
factors in determination of dividend payment of the Company (the
“Dividend Policy”), the declaration and payment of dividends shall be
in accordance with the applicable laws and the relevant provisions of
Bye-Laws effective from time to time.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining
an appropriate basis for dividend distribution, the Board will take
into account, inter alia, the Group’s earnings, reasonable return in
investment of the investors and the shareholders in order to provide
incentive to them to continue to support the Company in their
long-term development, the financial conditions, business plan, future
operations and earnings, capital requirement and expenditure plans of
the Company, any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders, the general market sentiment and
circumstances and any other factors the Board deems appropriate.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LAM Mei Wai Michelle (“Ms. Lam”), president of Oakwood Services
Limited (a company secretarial service provider) was the company
secretary during the Year. The primary corporate contact person of
the Company is Mr. CHAN Wai Lung, the Financial Controller of the
Company. During the Year, Ms. Lam had taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional trainings to update the skills and knowledge.

The Board approves the selection, appointment or dismissal of the
secretary in board meetings. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure that board procedures,
and all applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed. The role of
Company Secretary also includes ensuring effective information flows
and communication among Directors as well as between shareholders
and management of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no other significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents for the Year.
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Environment, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Success Dragon International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1182)
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group” or “We”) are
pleased to present the Environmental, Social and Governance (“‘ESG”)
Report (the “Report”) for the year ended 31 March 2025. This report
serves as an effective communication tool between us and the public
who are interested in our ESG policies, initiatives and performance.
Throughout the year, we continually promote sustainability within
our operations. Last year we had focused on our business in gold
processing business.

The Report is prepared in both English and Chinese. In case of
inconsistency, the English version shall prevail. Electronic version of this
ESG Report is available on the website of HKEx at www.hkexnews.hk,
or our company website at www.successdragonintl.com.

Reporting scope

This Report details the operations of the Group’s core business for the
financial year from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (‘the Year” or “the
Reporting Period” or “FY2025”). The reporting scope covers our major
segment, gold processing.
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RE 8K

BAWME

Reporting prinicples

The Report has been prepared according to the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out
in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange. The Report
is based on the four report principles of materiality, quantitative, balance
and consistency.

M

Materiality: The threshold at which ESG issues determined
by the board are sufficiently important to investors and other
stakeholders that they should be reported.

Quantitative: KPIs in respect of historical data need to be
measurable. The issuer should set targets (which may be actual
numerical figures or directional, forward-looking statements)
to reduce a particular impact. In this way the effectiveness of
ESG policies and management systems can be evaluated and
validated. Quantitative information should be accompanied by a
narrative, explaining its purpose, impacts, and giving comparative
data where appropriate.

Balance: The ESG report should provide an unbiased picture of
the issuer’s performance. The report should avoid selections,
omissions, or presentation formats that may inappropriately
influence a decision or judgment by the report reader.

Consistency: The issuer should use consistent methodologies to
allow for meaningful comparisons of ESG data over time.

To provide a clear view of the Group’s material topics, we have
conducted a materiality assessment and presented the results in the
Report. With regard to those important topics, we have computed
KPIs to measure our performance quantitatively. We have followed the
methodologies used in the previous reports so that the effectiveness
of our control policies can be proved with time, except that we had a
change in business scope this year.

For convenience, an index is available in the last chapter of the Report,
for the location of KPIs within the Report.

Confirmation and approval

The company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) has overall
responsibility for KPI setting and material disclosure, and hereby
confirms that all information in the report is presented to the best of the
Board’s knowledge.
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This Report contains forward-looking statements that are based
on assumptions and expectations at the time of its publication. No
guarantee is expressed as to the accuracy of the statements and the
Group expressly disclaims any liability for and assumes no responsibility
to correct or update those forward-looking statements in the event that
any of the statements does not materialize or turns out to be incorrect.

Contact us

We are truly open to your voices on this ESG Report. You are more
than welcome to contact us through the following channels:

Tel: 3548 2562
Email: contactus@successdragonintl.com
Official website: www.successdragonintl.com

ESG governance

As gold processing has gradually become our major revenue segment,
thorough determination of the company’s ESG risks and opportunities
is still in progress. In the Year, the Board has delegated management
to perform environmental control over the operations in Yunnan and
Henan, the PRC. The Board has also discussed the ESG issues
regularly and acknowledged the impact of the ESG risks on the Group’s
revenue and business model. In the future, the Group would consider
bringing up more ESG topics in the internal meetings and formulate a
solid governance structure on the subject.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

To be truly successful — as the company name suggests, we cannot
live on our own and must maintain good relationships with other parties
around. Communication is crucial, through which we understand
stakeholders’ expectations and respond with corporate actions. During
the meetings, not only do we gather opinions, we also speak for
ourselves, to spread our mission and values, to depict actions that have
taken to mitigate the environmental and social impacts, and to explain
the challenges we face in achieving eco-efficiency. Governments,
shareholders and investors, customers, suppliers, employees, and the
public are all key stakeholders of the company. The Group attaches
great importance to daily communication with stakeholders, and
has established a sound stakeholder communication mechanism.
Continuous and regular communication with stakeholders through
multiple channels; sincere listening and response to the expectations
and concerns of various stakeholders, and timely disclosure of
information on our production, operation, and development strategies.
This promotes mutual understanding between us and the stakeholders.
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Stakeholder Group
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Materiality assessment

Material issues are those that reflect the significant economic,
environmental, and social impacts of the company’s business, and the

Quality assurance
Information disclosure
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TERERN

Occupational health and safety
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Business ethics and credit standing
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Employee activities
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Conferences and daily communications
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Conferences and business collaborations
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Supervision, assessments and formal
meetings
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Daily communications
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operation process stakeholders expect from the company. HALE o

The Group has conducted a materiality assessment with the help of our ARNEEEEBRHEZ R FETEZHTH - AE
stakeholders. To obtain a holistic view of our corporate risks, we have  S¥H MM EXRALAIERERH KM HHEH -
consulted a variety of parties, such as clients, suppliers and employees, BIEXFE - - HENMLEE  HESAEBAEAMNSE
each of whom have indicated their concerns through a comprehensive  KREHEET NEKXATEENHRN EFTEg=
questionnaire. In the final decision of materiality, the Board has EF AR MEZEEINETEFMNENH EERR
considered beyond the assessment results and has also taken into  WEHI & EE -

account of the feedbacks gathered from daily communications with

different stakeholders.
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As illustrated above, the ESG topic of highest priority to the internal
stakeholders is Employment and Welfare Policies and Employee’s
Health and Workplace Safety. Knowing that we serve luxurious items,
stakeholders have placed heavy emphasis on Stability and Sustainability
of Supply Chain and Customer Relation and Protection in respect
of their interest. In response, the Group has established a sound
mechanism on quality assurance, making sure that every facet of the
product emits the greatest of glow, satisfying customer’s needs.

Moreover, our operation involves a lot of machineries and chemical
procedures where accidents could happen relentlessly. To put
employees at ease, we ensure everybody is equipped with knowledge,
awareness and gear. This echoes with one of our major strategies —
People First.

As we source the gold-laden carbon and gold ore directly from
the market, we deal only with the latter stages of gold production:
desorption and electrolysis, which pose limited harms to the
environment. Much of the heavy treatment on gold has been
accomplished by external parties beforehand, such as mining, crushing
and leaching. Hence, the environmental responsibilities are mostly
externalized and this report will focus primarily on the social issues
concerning the Group’s business.
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SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

Product responsibility

In order to requite our client’s trust and support, the Group places
unwavering focus on product quality and exercises stringent control on
the production processes.

From sourcing to production, the Group stands firm in gatekeeping. We
have reviewed the supply of gold-containing activated carbon regularly.
As appearance-wise, the materials can be easily confused with charcoal
granules; therefore, we have spent a lot of efforts in avoiding forgeries,
such as examining the chemical components of the substances before
we confirm a purchase with a new party. Sometimes, if a load is found
to be contaminated with many other kinds of metals and does not
constitute a sufficient percentage of gold by mass, our personnel will
request for replacement, so as to avoid “garbage in, garbage out”.

Our due diligence does not stop at the factory gate but is applied
across the entire production journey. One of the critical steps in gold
treatment is desorption, where the Group requires its staff to check
whether the gold has been fully unloaded from carbon and whether the
unwanted substances have been removed. We do not let the process
continue before making sure the above criteria are met.

While we retrieve gold, precisely gold sludge, by means of electrolysis,
we do not present our products in this very raw form. We carry out
refinement and smelting to improve the purity and shapes of gold for
the elicitation of gleam and glamour. Taking a step further, laboratory
testing is conducted to measure the purity, malleability and ductility
of the precious metal. This guarantees the bullion supplied is up to
standard and can suit a wide range of manufacturing designs before
the gold ultimately reaching consumers in the market.

Recall process

We take our products seriously. We ensure that the products we
deliver are of the best quality. If we find anything that does not meet
the quality standards, we will take the initiative to recall the products. In
the reporting period, none of the products we sold was recalled due to
safety and health concerns.

Intellectual Properties Right

The Group’s policies respect intellectual property rights and prohibit
the use of infringing products in the course of business. Therefore,
the Group requires all employees to strictly abide by and comply with
the Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and other relevant laws in the People’s Republic of China. During the
year ended 31 March 2025, the Group has not found any incident of
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

HEUHRERE
EREE

REBREFPHEENXE ARERIEREEY
BIEEEIZ-

AEEEBEERBIEENSERES - XEB
EEH IR o R SMNE L H EERA R E &
B RABTREHERR  FWERBRIAE
TEREARAMENLEERD —BRERERTE
MEReMERELZETRE HMWAERKEX
FMEE  BRlREE BERE] -

BPMEREFE TR EEEELBER  MERE
BEELEEBE BMULAESRENBRIR L —

BRPHHLEGEHMGERYE  BERKRER
P RERT S BELERE

HMFEREMERES BMUMSELNEDR
B EE SR - 2B BRI - #&
BEIBRE B = o WA HFVEETERERA
RAEESESBOAE  ATRERERN - ERERE
WEitmEER BEARSBREERS  Taf
EmELED -

BEERF

BHABLOBTRMOER  BRAXNNERE X
R - ARJACAATEEERENER - LK
ITHA@ER RBEHHE  RALENERGRE
Azeki2EREmEE -

HimERE

EENIERRAKRENRR  BEEXRBBIET
ERREER - Fit AEEZKAEREBRBE
St R B E B AP Eo28E RGN R hEAR
HMBEEMERER BE T _AF=A=+—
BIEFE - REBEWE R AR RBRER IO
REVFELF

58 Success Dragon International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25



Environment, Social and Governance Report

Customer Relation and Protection

The Group serves our clients with utmost sincerity and it always reflects
on our business processes. To this end, we have developed extensive
communication channels to gather opinions in order to learn about
our clients. By listening to their development blueprints and plans, we
align our production with their needs. If they are going to launch a
promotional campaign, we would then step up our production to meet
the expected increase in demands.

The Group values opinions and is open to complaints of all forms, which
can be expressed through emails, phones, and on our webpage. While
some may find them discouraging, we take them all and see them as
a precious tool for improvement but not a stumbling block on our path
to success. We log all the incidents and investigate the corresponding
business process, whether sourcing, production or communication,
in an attempt to make our service satisfactory to all. This reminds us
not to rest on our laurels and that we shall stay alert at all times in this
competitive market.

As a responsible company, the Group secures client’s interest
through the provision of after-sales service. We stand firmly by our
clients and provide continuous support to them by swiftly responding
to their queries, regardless of the size of transaction or the span of
collaboration. In the case where an issue is found with our products, we
humbly take in the allegations and would deliver products again upon
verification, so as to maintain a positive relationship with clients and
minimize the disturbance to their operation.

The continuous support of customers has always been one of the key
factors for the Group’s success. Therefore, the Group is committed
to provide quality services to customers. Our staff reviews customer
complaints regularly, if any, and resolve them until the customer
is satisfied. If necessary, the complaints will be passed on to the
management for further follow-up measures. During the reporting
period, no identified substantiated complaints were received.

We protect our clients by not disclosing their information to third parties.
We limit the use of clients’ information for internal purposes only.
Without a written consent, nothing would be shared with organizations
or people outside of the transactions. During the reporting period, there
were no substantiated complaints about invasion of customer privacy or
loss of customer’s information.

Supply chain management

Suppliers are one of the key stakeholders to the Group. The group’s
main suppliers are gold-containing activated carbon, gold ore
and production machinery vendors. When conducting a tender or
procurement, vendors’ track record pertaining to legal and regulatory
compliance as well as their reputation and experiences are considered,
apart from their economic and commercial benefits.
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R HERERERS

Strict selection procedures and management’s approval are required
before the confirmation of all suppliers’ contracts. Certain terms related
to the social and environmental aspects are considered, such as: (i)
Prohibition on use of child labour and forced labour; (i) Prohibition
on discrimination due to ethnicity, gender, age, disability or marital
status during the employment process; (iiij Provision of fair wages
and all other legally mandated benefits; (iv) Prohibition on corruption
and money laundering; (v) Provision of a safe and hygienic working
environment; and (vi) Incorporation of sustainability principles into
business decision. These items are stated in the procurement contracts
signed between the suppliers and the Group. We care about the social
and environmental performance of our suppliers and their corporate
philosophy, and we expect our suppliers to have the same mentality
as us, that of protecting the environment and keeping sustainable
development. We tend to co-operate with qualified suppliers.

Our suppliers are mainly from Henan and Yunnan with the provision
of the gold-containing activated carbon, gold ore and production
machineries. During the Reporting Period, the Group had a total of
approximately 30 suppliers in the PRC.

Health and safety

As people always come first to the Group, employee’s health and safety
has been treated with the highest level of attention. Where the work is
deemed dangerous, the Group would mitigate the risks with a series
of control measures, promoting a sense of security and comfort in the
workplace. During the year under review, the Group established strict
internal safety and health policies in compliance with the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Production Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases.

The Group has formulated a risk management approach to reduce both
the likelihood and magnitude of accidents. In order to allow workers
to perform duties in an industry-acknowledged safe manner, we have
stipulated working guidelines for each industrial process.

As our production involves in pickling activated carbon with acids
to facilitate gold desorption, we have to keep an eye on monitoring
the chemicals. The prominence of labels on every storage tank with
clear signs of warnings reminds workers of the substances that they
are dealing with and the consequences of spilling over. We have
segregated the acids from the bases as toxic or flammable gases may
result from the mixing of the two. To further ensure correct mitigative
procedures are adopted, the Group has assigned a safety supervisor to
guide workers over the use of chemicals and require workers to wear
gloves before moving, opening, or refilling the storage tanks.
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Besides, substantial heat and pressure are required for efficient
desorption. As such, prudence engineering is practiced to avoid the
heat being released to the surroundings through the accurate control
of valves and the use of insulated materials. If the heat is discharged
to where chemicals are placed, acid fumes may evolve and intoxicate
workers eventually.

We provide safety trainings for workers regardless of their seniority,
covering all the identifiable risk items from our assessment exercise. We
strictly prohibit anybody from commencing to work when he or she has
not gone through the corresponding training sections compulsory for
the type of work.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has recorded no safety
incidents, meaning no deaths and injuries arising from work. Including
this year, the Group has recorded zero work-related fatalities over the
past three years.

Employment

The Group takes pride in our employees and is committed to serving
them with best interest in relation to remuneration, work environment,
and corporate culture. Therefore, it is our foremost mission to take care
of their well-being in expression of gratitude.

Rewarding the hard work of our staff, the Group reviews the wages
regularly. This also helps our staff in pursuit of a higher quality of life
possible amid inflation. On top of the increment, the Group offers
performance bonus based on the performance of the Group and
our employees, making sure they are treated and rewarded fairly. In
terms of welfare, the Group adopts the “Five Social Insurances plus a
Housing Fund” scheme enforced by the Chinese government, offering
comprehensive protection for employees against the representative
needs of life, from work injuries to maternity to retirement.

Working hours and rest periods

The working hours and rest periods of every employee are set out
in the employment contract, which are in compliance with the local
employment laws and regulations, including “Provisions of the State
Council on Employee’s Working Hours™ (5 % B B8 7 B T T {ERF &9
RIED).

On top of basic paid annual leave and statutory holidays, employees are
entitled to additional leave benefits, such as sick leave, marriage leave,
maternity/paternity leave etc.
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R HERERERS

Welfare and benefits

The Group cares about the physical and mental health of its employees
and provides employees with regular health checks. By providing a
full-range health service platform for employees, the Group maintains
the health level of its employees with precautions against the spread of
diseases, thus ensuring the healthy conditions of employees.

The Group offers employees an extensive range of fringe benefits,
including lucky money or festive gifts to employees on Chinese New
Year, Mid-autumn Festival, Women’s Days, and other statutory holidays.

Compensation and dismissal

The Group’s human resources department regularly reviews the internal
policies and compensation packages to ensure compliance with the
latest relevant laws and regulations. According to the remuneration
policy, fair and competitive remuneration packages are offered to its
employees. The remuneration packages will be reviewed periodically in
view of the competitive labour market as well as to show recognition to
staff with outstanding performance.

Further, the Group ensures that any termination of the employment
contract is based on reasonable and lawful grounds. The Group’s
internal policies regulate the procedures for dismissal of employees
which strictly prohibits any kinds of unfair or unreasonable dismissals.
For employee who has committed very serious misconduct or fails to
improve himself/herself after the Group’s repeated warning, the Group
will terminate the employment relationship with the relevant employee
with or without prior notice.

Recruitment and promotion

Overseeing by its human resources department, the Group‘s
recruitment and promotion matters are strictly aligned with the principles
listed in the human resources policies manual. Having made high
commitment to local employment, all of the Group’s job postings are
opened to local candidates. In view of the fierce market competition,
the Group ensures its talent acquisition, retention and promotion are fair
and transparent according to its remuneration policy.

Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination

The Group is committed to providing a workplace which supports
and motivates its employees. In compliance with the Group’s
human resources policies manual, the Group strives to promote a
working environment without any prejudice or discrimination based
on nationality, race, religion, age, gender, pregnancy, family status,
disability, or any other non-job related factors.
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The Group strikes to promote workplace equality and diversity. We do
not discriminate against gender, age, religion and cultural background.
In view of our business nature, male may be more suitable for the
work, yet we offer equal opportunities to females. As of the reporting
date, 51% of our employees were males; 49% are females. We aim to
balance the gender distribution of our employees and we offer the same
opportunities to female. And for age, most of our employees fell in the
range of 36-50, and the overall turnover rate was 14%. To improve
from being discrimination-free to being truly inclusive, the Group holds
internal meetings and encourages staff to channel their thoughts and
sentiment, giving rise to the concept of “team”, which ultimately the
Group hopes to grow upon.

Throughout the Year, the Group committed to adopting the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Employee Ordinance
in Hong Kong. At the end of Reporting Period, the Group had 84
employees in total, 33 of them were based in Henan, 9 of them were
based in Shenzhen, 8 of them were based in Hong Kong, and 34 of
them were based in Yunnan. In the future, the Group will review our
human resources policy with respect to community needs and social
momentum.
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36-50
B emmson

above 50
5088 A £

Employee (Location)

BE (RtHED)

Yunnan
Zm
34
40%

Shenzhen

Hong Kong
B /
8

10%

BREREREZERERQTF

Henan

LRGeS

= ihenzhen
A

Hong Kong
BE

Yunnan

—E-ME_RFEEHE 63



Environment, Social and Governance Report
RIE -HERERERS

Turnover
rate*

by gender
REBIE S
B 7R 2k =

Male Sk 23%
Female pegd 5%

Turnover

rate*

by age group
RERER S D
FY R K R

20-35 205% 2355, 13%
36-50 365% 2505, 12%
51 or above 515 M A E 21%

* This turnover rate is mainly for the general staff in PRC * TEERRBALTIEE Tnix

Total

percentage

Managerial General of trained
staff Staff employees
ZilER

EEAE EBET #BEDL

Percentage of trained employees Male 60% 40% 50%
XEEBE DL B

Female 60% 40%

2z

Development and training R BRI

Employees are the most precious asset of our company. The Group BT EARSEENEE A£EHFHFERE (LB
values every employee and strive to provide a safe and friendly work T - Wi HIR T2 AT TEEREE - BERS W
environment with a relaxed and productive working atmosphere. N TESE o

Before assigning new employees to various positions, a E#FHE T FEA ARRIBEESENTIEEHLLE
pre-employment safety training designed based on their respective job A4 MBI Z 215 - A B % TEMITERE -
nature will be provided to prepare them for the tasks ahead. Besides, 4N KA GIE AFHEABTHAREI - NER
a newcomer orientation program will also be arranged to introduce our  {f&9 A B X (b IR ©

company culture and policies.
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Regarding on-the job trainings, general trainings on desorption,
purification and smelting skills will be provided to employees working on
site. In addition, pursuant to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China, employee engaged in special operations must receive specialized
training and obtain qualifications in advance for managing specialized
operations. Thus, trainings on pressure vessel operation, electric hoist
operation and hazardous chemicals treatment would be provided to
employees operating in specialized field.

In order to promote and sustain a high level of productivity and safety
in our workplace, we have incorporated the 6s concepts in our training
process which comprise the Japanese 5s principles of Seiri (Sort),
Seiton (Set in Order), Seiso (Shine), Seiketsu (Standardize), Shitsuke
(Sustain), with the addition of “Safety”.

R - HERERBREKE

ERBEITH AReBRELTIEETRHAREH
BRI R ROR BRI BE DT E A — AREZFI © S - AR
B(REARKMBELSEE) FHRBEXNET
VAR EPIE  AESHEEEER - Bt
ARAAREEMAEFERN B TREERNTRE
1F - EBFARERBERERICEREIEE -

RERFARGEFTESHINSEERRRZ2KF
B PIESEIEM O BALIEE - AR [EIE
IR AR BRERRBISSRAER BRI 22
e e

Sort “Sort” is a measure to improve productivity in the workplace through separating essential work items from
unnecessary items to make those essential work items more readily accessible.

g [(BRE | EERATIESHEERE  BRAKVEETNVETEYRER SRR - M EMEREISZE
MBETEYm -

Set in Order “Set in Order” is a measure to improve productivity in the workplace through arranging the essential work
items sorted out in a systematic way with an aim to maximize accessibility and space.

g [BREIEERATESHEERE BRAKVLETEYREZEREARANE  WERRREZEESYH
RER TSP o

Shine “Shine” is a measure to improve safety in the workplace through regularly cleaning and inspecting the
working environment to prevent injuries and products from being stained due to uncleanliness.

=k ER]EESELESME2KY - BBTFERERREE TIERE - MIEREREMERRETNRMFHE

Standardized “Standardized” is a measure to develop a routine for the first three steps through identifying the best
practices and creating a consistent procedure to improve the productivity and safety in the workplace.

BZ DERIGEMMZELRGEEL BB EER  SIEHK—RIE  BEALESANEEREREY
o SO

Sustain “Sustain” is a measure to create a culture that follows the standardized procedures established over a
long period of time.

ES [RE|EETE-BETROEKBRERIEN UL

Safety “Safety” is a measure to provide a safe working environment through setting preventive controls to keep
workers safe.

ZE [Z2 | EHERELZZHITERE  BAGIEHEER BREIL D -
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R HERERERS

During the reporting period, no identified hours of training were
provided. We will provide training to our employees in order to raise
their safety consciousness and protect them from the potential danger
from their work.

Labour standards

As stated in the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour, recruiting juveniles
under the age of 16 and forced labour are strictly prohibited.

In order to avoid the employment of any child labour, the Group requires
every job applicant to provide true and accurate personal information
during the recruitment process for examinations, and our team will
check on the validity of the documents provided. Besides, regular
inspections are conducted to ensure no child labour is employed. If any
irregularities are found, the Group will certainly check the validity and
feasibility of the relevant inspection procedures.

In addition, the Group has arranged insurance package including
basic endowment insurance, basic medical insurance, employment
injury insurance, unemployment insurance and maternity insurance to
all employees as required in the Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China. Furthermore, we strictly abide by the statutory
working hours as stated in the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

During the reporting period, we were not aware of any non-compliance
with the relevant Labour Law in the People’s Republic of China and
Hong Kong SAR.

Anti-corruption

Honesty, transparency and integrity have always been the core values
of the Group, where respect for regulations and business ethics are
conspicuously emphasized. The Group strictly complies with the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Supervision Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) in Hong Kong.

ML TEEENFIRE - RMNBARE
RHUEI - URESRENZE2EMIRERSTRLE
TEFREBERR

BT

EaChEARKMBELSEZE) R(REILFERETR
FE)FTBE BB IEARBRMIBE RN RKEA
Mg T -

RTHPERET  ARBEERSLALBEERE
BRERRHEEERNBEAGEAESSR  MEM
BB A A B AT IR SR B UM © teSh - AR A
ETTHEEURRTEREL - MERBEMRS
no AEENERRARRERF ZBERERAT
Mo

Foh - RBCPEARRMBEEREBIEIRTE - K
SECRE2RETIRHBREARERR EAE
BRR - THRER - RERBRREEBRBRIORRAE
& o A BARKET(REARKMBELEER)
T HDEE TR »

REEE  RMUTRBEMERPEARKA
BREBRITREBESEIENER -

rRES

HE BRETE-BEEAKRENZLOEER B
RLEBRFHETERNEEER AREEBET
(FEARAMBRAEEHRFE) (FEARHK
R B 50E) R BB IEDI 201 =BT IEFERE 5B
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Anti-fraud policies have been implemented throughout the Year. We
conduct systematic fraud risk assessments regularly and review the
risk control mechanism through collaborating with external parties.
We crack down on money laundering activities and keep track of the
flow of the public account. Additionally, we prohibit the derivation
of personal benefits, whether financial or administrative, using one’s
authority. Once convicted, we will report to the local government body
and terminate the employment of the involved person immediately.
We planned to have anti-corruption training in the future and we hope
to make our employees and management aware of the importance of
anti-corruption.

During the reporting period, the Group did not observe any cases
involving bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering.

Social investment

The community feeds us with resources and talents. While we take
these up as nutrients, it is our responsibility to give back on the grounds
that enterprises and community are always interdependent, and a
balance of interests is needed to be achieved in this ecosystem.

The Group encourages employees to participate in community events.
Yunnan and Henan, our production base, is undergoing large-scale
urbanization and modernization, both of which create social issues that
compromise the quality of life of a certain class of people. The Group is
deeply aware of these and has always wanted to help. In the reporting
period, we did not participate in any volunteering events or make
donations.

In the future, the Group would consider extending our reach to
the underprivileged and people in need for the promotion of social
sustainability, as we would not like any part of the society to be left out,
if not unattended.

BREREREZERERQTF

R - HERERBREKE

ARBREBEFEAERRRFERE - RAEHE
TREERFFRR G - WBBEILA LA ER

A ERREEEH S - HAIBRBITBEIEE - WiB R
RHARPHREN B o BEIN - FPIZELE I E A
jﬂ%ﬂlfl)\ﬂ/\( N ST E) - — & E
B RMSREEMBTHE  WAZEMEBAR
%%JJ:EFHE@% BFET BN RRETREISEI
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K& R - ARBEBEERETEDY R - AEF
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HERBERMARBERRAT B EETETAK
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AEESBHETEBRSEMEEE RANEEER
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R HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

Environment

The Group is well aware of the importance of sustainability and
has exerted pollution control as far as possible. We abide by
relevant environmental protection laws and regulations, primarily the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China and so on.
Our environmental management strategies are formulated based on the
Technical Policy for Pollution Prevention and Control of Gold Industry
([ERTER R RRMBE]).

As hydrometallurgy is practiced in production, the Group’s major
environmental concerns stem from the use and handling of chemicals.
In response, the Group employs a technology that frees production
from poisons. By avoiding cyanide (such as NaCN), a highly reactive
and toxic substance commonly adopted as an elution tool due to its
high affinity for silver and gold, the subsequential processes of residue
treatment and discharge are prevented in our production, making it
much more environmental friendly than the conventional way of gold
recovery.

In order to make the cyanide-free approach practicable, desorption
would require additional supply of heat and pressure. This is where
the Group has implemented further ways to control its environmental
footprint, such as the harvest and reuse of heat, reducing extra energy
input into chemical processes.

Emission

The Group is dedicated to reducing emission by all means. Our
dedication lies in the adoption of clean technologies, such as recovering
gold by electrolysis in lieu of intense combustion, which would otherwise
produce huge amount of NOx. In view of our industrial process, the
generation of other air pollutants is also minimal, for example, hydrogen
cyanide, which is extremely poisonous. Hence, the Group assumes this
is immaterial.

REVEERRE

RIE

AEBFMAFEERENEZ  WE B fEb#E
TERBER - BRMEBEF(REAREMERE
REE) (PEAREMBEN R E) AL EAM
HRRBEREELERER  UREB(CERITESR
Brias i B R ) Hl IR IRE IR RS o

HREEFRRARBZASRMN  ARENEIRIRE
MERECEMmIERREE - Bt - AEERS
—IEE BEEEBETERESVE - AR
ERED PImEtH) (—EaREENESY
5 HAESSRAGRENEMND - BHBELHR
TH) AEBEERETREREREBEER
B RERNESEKRTAERIRR

REEBRTIDENERT  BEREFINAME - BL
Kt - ANEEBREE — B BIREARKRERE
A RAMEBTREBEIINEREASE  FBUEH ER
BRI -

235 &7

AEB B RBEED AR - RABNRNBZR
it (WAEBRRESAMEDKRES) @ KiER
EEAREASLY HMANIXEREELNELI
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To supply heat for desorption, the Group utilizes electric heaters in
place of direct fuel combustion. Therefore, we do not use fuels in
stationary sources, so our production only produces negligible Scope
1 Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions and the major concerns arise
only from Scope 2 emission. The following charts set out the relevant

R - HERERBREKE

RABRIFHERE AEEERAEREREER
BRGEIREL - Bt AT E R B E R RE - ]
MLt EBETEELBEVEZRESN T2
B MEZB IR ERESSEE R - TR
5|33 & BRI B0 B R B

statistics for the reporting period:

Indicators Unit During the reporting period
it By wERE
Scope 1 Direct Emissions kg of CO,e 15,259
WENEEYENR Fr-_athgE=

Intensity (per Dollar of Revenue) kg of CO,e/Revenue HK$ 000 0.12
BE (BT Fr-_atmgs FTETKRE

Scope 2 Indirect Emissions kg of CO.e 851,206
#[E2fE B K Fr-_athgE=

Intensity (per Dollar of Revenue) kg of CO,e/Revenue HK$ 000 6.80

wE (BEThE)

Scope 3 Other Indirect Emissions
& [ 3 HL i Fl 42 HE L

Intensity (per Dollar of Revenue)
wE (BETHE)

kg of CO.e

Note:
The principle of the GHG calculation is based on the “Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standard” from greenhouse gas protocol, while we adopt emission

factors from the ESG Reporting Guide published by the HKEx.

Scope 1: Direct emissions from machineries and vehicles that are owned by the
Group

Scope 2: Indirect emissions from purchased electricity consumed by the Group
Scope 3: Other indirect emission is optional disclosure

Revenue of the Group for FY2025 is HKD$125,245,000.

Goal:

In the coming year, we decided to reduce the indirect emission by 10%
in order to protect the environment and remind ourselves to be more
environmentally friendly when we use electricity which will produce
emission.

Waste

The Group produces mostly daily living waste and strictly complies with
the “Wastewater Quality Standards for Discharge to Municipal Sewers”.
As the waste arise mostly from personal hygiene issues, we do not see
this as a material topic to the business.

Fr-_atxgE=
kg of CO,e/Revenue HK$'000 0.02
Fr-_atixgE=

TR-SHREE TETRE

2,657

/TR EE

it

m

BERENAERADENEERERERTEPN L
FETEBERE] MBMRAEIMEMOCRE - 4
BRERMEESDPOPRET

HET : RAAREMEE RS LEMNEZIR

HWE2 : AEBMAEAIINBENATEENMEENR
#HES : K FEEHRBEEEEREE
AEEBR T ABMINFE B /125,245,000 7T ©

B

S

RE—F - HPPREAE I BORD10% - AR#E
R UREASECHSELHNNENEET

BRIR -

R

AEBELNBEREYRIMLS BATEEEZYIL
&8 ST OFKBEAREE TKBEKERE) - HNER
MEEREAGEREBMES  HALEKERS
BEBMEWEZHE -
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During the Reporting Period, there was no incidence of non-compliance
in emissions with the relevant environmental laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group.

Being in line with the principle of eco-efficiency, the Group practices
reuse and recycling that we do not emit hazardous materials to the
environment, such as chemicals and the unloaded activated carbon.
Considering the gold recovery process, the pregnant solution that
contains gold removed from carbon undergoes electrolysis then gold
deposition results. After we harvest the precious metal, the solution
returns to the original state, meaning it can serve to desorb gold from
carbon and become pregnant again. Hence, we do not discharge the
solution to sewer but let it re-circulate within the production system.
Furthermore, activated carbon could be regenerated by acid-washing
and heat, thus we have been returning this valuable material to suppliers
rather than sending them to landfills.

Use of Resources

Saving resources is one of the major environmental directions of the
Group. In fulflment of our business goal, we look for options that
require the least input and promote the concept of conservation, in
favor of ecological health and the Earth’s resilience. Electricity and
water consumption are the major resources we used in our business
operation, the Group clearly understands the importance of cherishing
resources and we are keen to reduce these usages. We decided to
reduce the electricity and water usage in the coming year and we look
forward to seeing these changes and improvement. In the coming year,
the Group promises to reduce our electricity and water use by 5% of
FY2025.

While our production takes up a lot of heat supplied by electricity, it
is not an arbitrary or irresponsible decision. Traditional way of gold
desorption does not require heat as much, yet alternating heating
and cooling is practiced due to the different temperature requirement
between desorption and electrolysis. In that case, extra amount of
energy is spent on the thermal adjustment within each production cycle.
On the contrary, we do not carry out cooling, allowing the solution to
stay at elevated temperatures at the end of each production cycle so
that no remainder heat is wasted.

In our plants, we have displayed slogans and signs that remind workers
of the importance of energy saving. We will switch off the lights
and other electronic devices when finish using. We encourage our
employees to adopt an eco-friendly lifestyle by adopting sunlight, using
the least light to meet their purposes, and commuting by stairs rather
than lift if possible.

Water is another issue that concerns the Group. As the desorption fluid
is mostly diluted, the Group consumes certain amount of freshwater in
production. While the major consumption has been saved by reusing
the liquid, evaporation takes place requiring the addition of water.

RBERE - FRTEAMERLERBEAREEE
FERBEBAREENEATENES -
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Lo - TR ﬁﬁ)I_ILiB@&/f&bﬂiﬂmﬁiﬁi R
B EEMEREMEER  MIFRZHEAR -
BERER

BREREASENEERRAML— - RERK
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ﬁﬁi’ﬂﬁk‘u/’\ﬁ’ﬂ?; B PR e I M b IR 1B R
N BARKREMEBELERERANEZEZEEZR

AEEBFHAREBERNEEN U ORLZEE
REVEA - HPFPREERR—FRDAEMAK
WEAR BB ABE  REBAHERFEHRE
EMAKER-_T_AWRFERIE% -

HARAAEFDELEET ERASBEENIHENRE
BZREALFREFXTEEE - ERNESHRBS

EREBHERETR fﬁl%”&EﬁiﬁmZFﬁE’J/mka
TR EETREMARSA - FUEBERT -

EEERRASFBFRERINEREITHRS - B
B N ETRE  ERRES AL ER RS RE
e e RERIRAE

1% ‘J‘Wfﬂn

BN EMERIERERR - RS TTSA0RE -
BPEEERRBEERENAMETFRE LB
BERPIRRMAE SN ROMABER - A&
DRAMRIERS  MBHRFRENCEREMIF
KEH -

7J<EZL<%IE’173 FEEE AR AL B TRARTE

THE AEBELEEREREETAK - BEE
L@E@ﬁﬁm EAEEEEME  B#ETEERT
hAzK e

70 Success Dragon International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25



Environment, Social and Governance Report

The Group adopts a robust management system, which keeps track of
water use patterns and compares usage among periods. Where water
consumption is significantly higher on a year-over-year basis, we would

investigate and develop responsive strategies, such as replacing the

leaking faucets.

The following table shows the figures of resource consumption in our

business operations:

FEERATENEE RS
REREMAKE - WAKESRLEZEM  HM
175 58 2 3 5 7E FE S AR AS () 2 B HRIMK RO /KBERR) o

R - HERERBREKE

HIBMAKEAIL L

TRIIFRBEMIERFEEFERERNEE -

The Group Unit During the reporting period

rEH B REEHE

Electricity consumption kWh 13,112,820
S Rl

Intensity (per Dollar of Revenue) kWh/Revenue HK$'000 104.7

wE (BEThas) FRE/ FAT

The Group Unit During the reporting period

rEH B R E G

Water consumption cubic metre 3,625

F7K SR

Intensity (per Dollar of Revenue) cubic metre/Revenue HK$’000 0.03

mE (AT SR TR

Note: Mzt -

Revenue of the Group for FY2025 is HKD$125,245,000. REBR - - AMBEE W A125,245,0005 7T °

Assume water density is 1 tonne per cubic metre.
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Climate change

As part of the community, we do not live aside of the impact of
climate change. The Group manages the issue with respect to the
Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD), which outlines four components: Governance,
Strategy, Risk Management and Metrics and Targets.

Our governance is mainly driven by the Board, who sets out a clear
strategy: to achieve eco-efficiency, the delivery of satisfactory goods
and services while reducing environmental impacts and resource
intensity, according to the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development. This pushes us to consider the climate when making
business decisions.

Considering the risks of climate change, the Group aims to formulate a
risk management system that predicts, evaluates, alleviates the impacts
of relevant events. In case of emergency, the Group will suspend the
operation and ensures the chemicals and gold-loaded carbon are not
overwhelmed. In the future, the Group will focus on rainwater drainage
and the plant’s resilience on adverse weather.

In addition to the environmental risks brought by climate change to the
Group, transition risks are also a concern of the Group. Governments
may tighten environmental regulations and codes of practice due to
climate change, which will increase operating costs and may increase
the chance of facing fines for non-compliance or delayed responses.
In view of this, the Group regularly follows the update of laws and
regulations related to climate change to prevent violations.

RIRE M
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RIE HLERERERST

GOVERNANCE REPORT INDEX

HERERHREES

Aspects
=]

Summary

M=

Page Index/Notes
HIB RS M

A. Environmental
AR

A1 Emission

reduction initiatives and results achieved.

ATEERY

General Relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water | For more details, please

Disclosure and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste: refer to ENVIRONMENTAL
(@)  the policies; and SUSTAINABILITY
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer.
— PRI R BURERMBREREYR MKRIMWEHES BERESEEY | EZFE F2HARRAIHESR
WEESH & ]
@ BE;R
(o) BEBTFHEHETABERTZENEBERELAD
AR -
Al The types of emissions and respective emissions data. For more details, please refer to
EMISSION
iR iR R AR BER IR o FZEFE - B2 ]

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, | For more details, please refer to
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). EMISSION
RERBHNAS (UEE) R (WMER)ZRE (WUBESEN - |EEF5  F28HHY ]
BHEFRMBAHE) o

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, | For more details, please refer to
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). WASTE
FEARSEZYES AEE) R (MER) BE (MASES S | B2F5 - F20EEY
fir < GERIEE)

Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where |For more details, please refer to
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). | WASTE
FEAEZEEYEE CEE) R (WMER)BE (MU BEEE | ELF15 - F20EEY]
iz - BIERMETE) o

A1.5 Description of emission target(s) and steps taken to achieve them. For more details, please refer to

EMISSION
A FTRI LS B R R AR E RS B R ATERERE 5K - FEFHE - Fm2H Y]
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, | For more details, please refer to

WASTE

W REIERERBEERZRYNI L  BEEHEIAEKR

B HEMEEY)
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Aspects
=g

Summary

M=

Page Index/Notes
BB ES| M

A. Environmental
ARE

A2 Use of Resources

applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

A2E R A

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and | For more details, please refer to

Disclosure other raw materials. USE OF RESOURCES

— R ERERAER(BEEIR - KEREMEMED)BBEER EEHFE 2B BREMA]

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas | For more details, please refer to
or ail) in total (kWh in "000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production | USE OF RESOURCES
volume, per facility).

REABSOEER AHEER(NE  KRovh) BFE (UTE|E2F1E - S20ERERA]
FTENAZE) REE (WASESEN - BERETE) -

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production | For more details, please refer to
volume, per facility). USE OF RESOURCES
BEKERBE(WNBESSN  BERKMBAHE) ° EEFE m2HIERERA]

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved. For more details, please refer to

USE OF RESOURCES
fat B RGeS st B RFT ISR - LT 2B BREMA]

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit | For more details, please refer to
for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved. USE OF RESOURCES
FSKEUE A KR LRI B ERMRE - URBEARKIRTEIRAE | ELF1E - S2BIERERA]
PR ©

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if | Not material, our business do

not need to use the packaging
materials.

S mATABEMENEE (AN E) & (WER) BEESB(LE -

TEEKXR ZPNEHKERERE

EHH
A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
ASRIBERRAER
General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the |For more details, please refer to
Disclosure environment and natural resources. USE OF RESOURCES
— R WIRBEITALIRBERRABERERERNZENLE - EEFHE m2BIERER]
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment | For more details, please refer to
and natural resources and actions taken to manage them. USE OF RESOURCES
R EBETHERBERRAERNEAZERECRKNEREULE | ELFE  BS2HIEREHA]
H1TE
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"0 N
o B HEREARE
Aspects Summary Page Index/Notes
B M= BIERS M

A. Environmental
AIRE

A4 Climate Change

AARIRE 1L
General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related | For more details, please refer to
Disclosure issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. | CLIMATE CHANGE
— R BRIREHERRAIGEGHETAEEYENEARGEBZEEN |EZHE  F2HRIEE L]
SR -
A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have | For more details, please refer to
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions | CLIMATE CHANGE
taken to manage them.
BB ERAEEHETAEETENERRGEFAEE  REY | ELF15 #2088 EZ1]
78 -
B. Social
BitE
B1 Employment and Labour Practices
BIEEREIER
General Following information on: For more details, please refer to
Disclosure (@)  the policies; and EMPLOYMENT
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer.
Relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits welfare.
—R IR LR E BBREA TESE -RA FTEHKSE ST |EZH5 F2HMER]
b~ RIEAR DA K B 57 38 S AR A A
(@ HBER: K
(o) BTFTHBETABERZENEBERE KRN
HE R} o
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or|For more details, please refer to
part-time), age group and geographical region. EMPLOYMENT
RIER - BERE (N2 BERE) FRARRMEEISWIEEREE - |ELH1E - F208(ERE]
B1.2 Turnover Rate by gender, position level, age group and geographical | For more details, please refer to

region.

EMPLOYMENT

IR BEAR - FielR MRS N A EB MK E -

BEH1E H2HER]

BREREREZERERQTF
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=g B= BB RS M

B. Social

BitE

B2 Health and Safety

B2 EE T 2

General Information on: For more details, please refer to

Disclosure (@)  the policies; and HEALTH AND SAFETY
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer.
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

—RI = FHEREZ2TIHERERREREBEBELEEMN G A2MERET S
@ BER: R
(o) BETHETABERTENHEEERELRRA
BE K -

B2.1 Number and rate of work fatalities occurred in each of the past three | For more details, please refer to
years including the reporting year. HEALTH AND SAFETY
BE=ZF(ARERFE)BFRITHNOAB L E - BEZHE #m2HIRERER R

B2.2 Lost day due to work injury. For more details, please refer to

HEALTH AND SAFETY
ETHEBRIERS - EEFE m2NRRETE]
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how | For more details, please refer to

they are implemented and monitored.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

RO FTRAM BER FE R 28 URERRTRERT X -

FEHE w2HAREELE]

B3 Development

and Training

B3 & R &I

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging | For more details, please refer to

Disclosure duties at work. Description of training activities. DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

—MRIKER FARARERITIIEBRE MM RIREENER - fltZ3E8 - |EZ2FHE - F2HIBREET]

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee | For more details, please refer to
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
REMEESRFN(WERERE PREERE)ASNXIEER |EZFI1E - B2 EREE]
oLk e

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and | For more details, please refer to
employee category. DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
RERREBRFE D  BEEETKIINN TR - BEZHE - w20 #REE ]
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B. Social
BitE
B4 Labour Standards
B4% T %8|
General Relating to preventing child and forced labour: For more details, please refer to
Disclosure (@)  the policies; and LABOUR STANDARD
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer.
—RR I EREP IEE T kol T : EHFIE w25 T
(@ HEE: R
(o) BETFHETABERTZENEBERE LA
AR o
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid | For more details, please refer
child and forced labour. LABOUR STANDARD
R T RIEE PR E AR o & T ReaHl& T - BEHE - w205
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when |For more details, please refer to

discovered.

LABOUR STANDARD

R AERREREREERERBRMRIRN PR -

F N M2l BTl

B5 Supply Chain

Management

B5{tpEHEE E

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply | For more details, please refer to

Disclosure chain. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

— MR ER ERHEENRE R ERBECR o EEEE A2 HEREERE]

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. For more details, please refer to

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

RMEE D HHEREE - EEFE A2MHEREERE]

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of | For more details, please refer to
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they | SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
are implemented and monitored.
HAEHBERHERNEN  RERTERAEBINMHERSE N EZFE S22 HERERE]
RABBBITREER A ©

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks | For more details, please refer to
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. | SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
BB EHANEEREETERGHNEIR R GRABMOIED - LARIEEE | EZF1E S22 HEEEE]
HMITRERFE-

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable | For more details, please refer to

products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

PR B R R 2 BRRERMRBOBED - ARBEHR
TTMEEE K

BoE - FLMEREE]

BREREREZERERQTF
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B. Social

BitE

B6 Product Responsibility

B6EmEE

General Relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters | For more details, please refer to

Disclosure relating to products and services provided and methods of redress: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer.

— R FHMREHEMNBRENREREELZE  BS SELAMEBFEUR|EZHE  S2HIEREE]
R ER -
@ BER: R
(o) BETHETABERTENHEEERELRRH
AR o

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for | For more details, please refer to
safety and health reasons. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
PERCEXAEMENTALZEEREEAMARKNE DL - EEZFHE w2MEREMT]

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how | For more details, please refer to
they are dealt with. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
BERNEmRIREH R FEE AR EE 7% - EEFHE m2BERET]

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual | For more details, please refer to
property rights. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
ft A E RRFE B EE R FHED - EEFE m2HEREE]

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. For more details, please refer to

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

g SRERERERBKIER - LG m2HEREE]

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how | For more details, please refer to
they are implemented and monitored. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
il E B & B RHMRE RFLBECR - LW RMABRITRERFE - EEFHE m2BIERET]
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B. Social
BitE
B7 Anti-corruption
B7TR &S
General Relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering: For more details, please refer to
Disclosure (@)  the policies; and ANTI-CORRUPTION
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer.
—RR I BRAMTIERERE - B3R - BRGRF RO R R - G m2HIRES]
(@ HEZE: R
(o) BETFHETABERTZENEBERE LA
AR o
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought | For more details, please refer to
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the | ANTI-CORRUPTION
outcomes of the cases.
RERMABEITAXEEERHUEEENESFARGNEE |ELFE  F20IREF]
PEEN T
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, | For more details, please refer to
how they are implemented and monitored. ANTI-CORRUPTION
PR R B RIET  ARBEEARITRERTE - FZHFE Bm2HIRET]
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. | For more details, please refer to

ANTI-CORRUPTION

HmESRE TRHEMNRESHFI - FEFHE Bm2HIRES]
B8 Community Investment
BttERE
General Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the | For more details, please refer to
Disclosure communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities | SOCIAL INVESTMENT
take into consideration the communities’ interests.
—MRIKER BHRANHE2EATREENEHEFTENHREAEBIDSER |25 F2HHLgRE]
FLHIE ) & A BUR -
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, | For more details, please refer to
labour needs, health, culture, sport). SOCIAL INVESTMENT
IEREE (HE  BREFE SIFR BFR b 8BF) - |ESHE #2HILeRE]
B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. For more details, please refer to

SOCIAL INVESTMENT

EETHBMBAER(MEELKRE) -

FEHE 2RI ERE]

BREREREZERERQTF
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR R S U

2

CCTH CPA LIMITED

PEXREEHMAERLA

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

SUCCESS DRAGON INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
BREREBIZERAMRA R

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Success
Dragon International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 86
to 170, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

B BEEBERARAARRK

(REREZMALZZFERAA])
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=
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HmhEMEERER SAEREHRREAES
MER  UREAMBRENTE  BREEXNTH
RER -

EERA HAVEBRRCREEEEFAMAS
([BAEFEMAE]) B2 BAMBREER G
EHAEEMATHRR EXEER_F_HF=A
ST BZBEAMBIR  URBEZRILFEZ
HEMBRAREGARERE YO HRBFER
AP 2 REBEREZ RREL -
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BB ) ETER - EERNZFENETHNE
ENREBEEZZ2HMED RBERBR G MBHRE
AENEE] —SHhE-— Sl - EERBEFES
S AgRMz [ EXREF R RBEERT (TR
B BEEE BEFNCRETAETHME
BEE -ESHE BEMESHEXERERRER
BEMAEENERIEHEE -

BAREXRER

MRECEERAARBESNERHEMS  HES
RAMRGEAVBHREASREENEH - ZEFR
EHEESERERGAMBMRIENEFHEDN
EARETRE MESITEHZSFRREES
WER -
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Valuation of inventories

FREE

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements
B2HRE M BHRERWFE7

Key Audit Matter
BREREE

How our audit address the key audit matter

EENERNMEERRERSEE

The Group had inventories of approximately HK$91,952,000
as at 31 March 2025. Inventories are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value in the consolidated financial

Our procedures in relation to valuation of inventories as at 31
March 2025 include:
EERR _E_RAF=A=+—HNEEMHEMRKRNEF

statements.

RZE_RF=H= +*H~fﬁﬁmﬁ“ﬁﬁ
91,952,000/ 7T © 17 E 1L 47 & B 7% ¥ 3% A 1% oK 7K B v &
FEMEFHBREETR-

The valuation of inventories involves complex and subjective
judgments exercised by management. These judgments
encompass the identification of inventory items that may
require provisioning, as well as the estimation of the
appropriate level of such provisions. Inventory is measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value, which
necessitates management’s assessment of costs incurred
and the estimated realisable value of inventory outputs.
FEMBEIREEBFEEMREIHNAE - ZSHEHB
FHANFI e FERENTEER U RGTZERENE
BEXRKF - FEEXNAETERFENERNREETE
TEEHEEHEEENRARRFEE LM ]S IRE#E
TTQ‘—HE

We focused on this area because of the magnitude of the
inventories and the estimation of the provision of inventories
involved significant management’s judgement.
HREERRER  BFEERBENGHITTPREEENEXN
Hi - MESEEMES -

BT

We obtained an understanding of the key controls that
the Group has implemented in relation to valuation of
inventories;

EETHY E5ECZEH
Ry

ERii

HEEFREHEEENERERD

We tested the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of the key controls management has
established for provision of inventories and to ensure the
accuracy of the valuation of inventories;

5E ﬂﬁ%@ﬁﬁffﬁ%&ﬁ%ffﬁﬁ%éﬁﬁ
Mz EREsERN R  BRlEETT R/

We evaluated the key assumptions and estimates applied
by management to determine the valuation of inventories
applicable to individual categories of inventory;
EENREREERAREETEARNENFERNNTFRRA
EH RS R ER Ak ET

We assessed the adequacy and movements of
inventories, by recalculating a sample of items included
within the provision to ensure appropriate basis of
valuation;
EEERENTEREMBENRKIER  THEE
EEAEREEHER  UBRGEEEERE

We evaluated, on a sample basis, whether inventories
were stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value
at 31 March 2025 by comparing the sales prices of
inventories subsequent to the reporting date' and
FRLRMEBRENFEHEER 5 UMK
RFER B -_RAE=A=+— E%TE%EM&$
HA IR FEMEFOBIEEINE &

We assessed on a sample basis, the accuracy of the
ageing analysis of inventories.

BEEAMED A EFEREDITEE EHE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the audit committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Hitf5 8
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control;

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control;

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors;

BREREREZERERQTF
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern;

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation; and

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the Group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

84
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

CCTH CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 27 June 2025

Lee Chi Hang
Practising Certificate Number PO1957

Unit 1510-17, 15/F., Tower 2,

Kowloon Commerce Centre,

51 Kwai Cheong Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEeEBEREMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HiZE =—ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

86

2025 2024
—E-FHEF —ETopnE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
i=s FHET FET
Revenue Wz 6 125,245 422,733
Cost of sales 55 A A (94,520) (385,496)
Gross profit EF 30,725 37,237
Other gain or loss, net HihBEFRE 6 2,850 3,312
Administrative and other operating expenses 1T E IR 2 A A B X (20,128) (28,651)
Profit from operations REREEK ZEA 13,447 11,898
Finance costs BhE KA 7 (210) (566)
Share of results of an associate e — R E AR EE (118) 1,180
Profit before tax BRFi AR R 8 13,119 12,512
Income tax expense FrS R = 9 (4,605) (6,334)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERA 8,514 6,178
Other comprehensive losses Hih2HEEE
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to B & A & # 18 Z 1525,2
profit or loss: EH -
Exchange differences on translating foreign ~ HREIBIMNE L 2 FEE £ 2
operations & H =58 (1,159) (4,091)
Other comprehensive losses for the year, AEERBEEM2EEIE
net of tax (1,159) (4,091)
Total comprehensive income for the year ZNEE 2 HEUKZFERE 7,355 2,087
2025 2024
—E-HF —TOE
Note HK Cents HK Cents
ihg=3 Bl B
Earnings per share ERER 12
Basic H A 2.44 1.77
Diluted e N/ATiE A N/A i
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e AR R

At 31 March 2025 R=—E-_HRE=H=+—H

2025 2024
ZEZAHF —T o ME
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT 5 FHET FET
Non-current assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - e G 13 27,109 3,693
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 2,481 3,841
Investment in an associate R—EBERRNIEE 15 3,639 3,757
33,229 11,291
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 17 91,952 12,813
Trade receivables SRR 18 7,538 10,168
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments  H fh fe U 3R 1E - & & 19
TR 16,929 90,826
Bank and cash balances RITNIB S &8 20 72,972 79,751
189,391 193,558
Current liabilities RENEE
Trade payables B S REMNFE 21 61,515 29,823
Other payables and accruals HihENRIBRETER 22 14,188 28,966
Contract liabilities aHEE 23 7,372 11,207
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 1,892 3,005
Amounts due to directors B EERA 25 3,575 4,034
Tax payables FERIFRIR 11,304 8,823
99,846 85,858
Net current assets RBEEZFE 89,545 107,700
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABERS 122,774 118,991
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB AR R

At 31 March 2025 R=—E-_RE=H=+—8H

2025 2024
—E_FHEF —E-mF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT 5 FHET FET
Non-current liabilities kREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 700 1,034
700 1,034
NET ASSETS EEFE 122,074 117,957
Capital and reserves BARRFHE
Share capital & 7 26 3,495 3,495
Reserves s 118,579 114,462
TOTAL EQUITY HRER 122,074 117,957

The consolidated financial statements on pages 86 to 170 were #H R E8E170B Y G MBHRENR S -_RE N
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June A - ++ HEZ =it & LIXENZ - WhH 5=

2025 and are signed on its behalf by: EREREZF
LIU Shiwei WANG Baozhi L& FHRE
Director Director BH EZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERRBERX

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = ZE A F=A=+—HIEFE

Foreign
Investment currency Capital
Share Share Treasury Capital ~ revaluation  translation  redemption  Accumulated
capital premium shares reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
RE  MERE  EARE
B RBEE  EFRE  EARE  EXER i e  ZiFB &3t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
TR TEn Tin TEn Tin Thn Thn ThR Tin
Note 28(a)) ~ Note 28(a)fi) ~ Note 28(alfii) ~ Note 28(a)iv)  Note 28(ally)
MEosE))  MEos@N)  MEosf)  MHE2sEl)  MHE2EN)
At 1 April 2023 RZEZZ%RA-A 3495 1,444,531 - 3,886 (155,460) 1,082 1190 (1,182,804 115,870
Total comprenensive income.~~ REERAWHEE
for the year - - - - - (4,091) - 6,178 2,087
AL31 March 2024 and 1 Apr 2024 H-B-M%E=A=+-F
R-3-MEMA-A 3495 1,444,531 - 3,886 (155,460) (3,059) 1,190 (1,176,626) 117,957
Total comprehensive income ~ AEE2EANELE
for the year - - - - - (1,159) - 8,514 7,355
Repurchase of shares RiEE - - (3,238) - - - - - (3,238)
At 31 March 2025 WZE-RF=B=1-H 3495 1,444531 (3,238) 3,886 (155,460) (4.218) 1190 (1,168,112 122,074
BRERZRERART —Z-omE-_nFERs 89



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiE — T - RAF =A=+—HLFE

2025 2024
—E-RHEF — T P04
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities REEKFMBEERE
Profit before tax Fr A1 A1 Vs A 13,119 12,512
Adjustments for: BT S EELFE
Depreciation of property, plant W MR RREITE
and equipment 2,690 907
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,696 3,411
Finance costs B A AR 210 566
Share of results of an associate [E(E— & AR EEA 118 (1,180)
Impairment loss on trade receivables E S EWRIE 2 R ERE (8
(reversed)/recognised @), w2 (1,206) 2,373
Impairment loss on financial assets included & & & & (8 15 H i Y 51
in other receivables, deposits and B e RFEMRE) Z
prepayments (reversed)/recognised RERE (BE) HR (124) 323
Impairment loss on investment in R—EEE R RIRE
an associate reversed 2R EEERE = (2,000)
Interest income on bank deposits RITHFHF WA (1,100) (1,723)
Gain on termination of lease I E (75) (36)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - HERREZEE
equipment 23 525
Operating cash flows before movements in LEESFHA 2
working capital KERESRE 15,351 15,678
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOEMm (79,933) 17,118
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables S EIER AL, (38 0) 3,773 (11,109
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables, HEWRIE  HENM
deposits and prepayments FER IR A (38 h0) 73,975 (20,927)
Increase in trade payables B 5 A SRIBE N 32,200 14,276
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and HifE(N B RESER
accruals R 2,18 n (14,726) 2,944
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to JENZEERIACRD) /1
directors (459) 315
Decrease in contract liabilities aEHa /R (3,783) (21,962)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations RE %K MEB (FEA) 2R 26,398 (3,667)
Income tax paid BEATER (2,034) (3,093)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEBHRE (A Z
operating activities REFE 24,364 (6,760)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GRERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = ZE A F=A=+—HIEFE

2025 2024
—E_FHEF —E-_mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities RETEFIBHRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B BRLEE (26,362) (517)
Interest received 2 F B 1,100 1,723
Net cash (used in)/generated from REES (R, B
investing activities REFE (25,262) 1,206
Cash flows from financing activities BETEFIERERE
Interest paid EAFLE (210) (566)
Payment for repurchase of shares EAEE SN E (3,238) -
Repayment of principal portion of EEHERREAZE Y
lease liabilities (1,708) (3,241)
Net cash used in financing activities MEETHEACEESFER (5,156) (3,807)
Net decrease in cash and cash RePHRESEEER
equivalents W FE (6,054) (9,361)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of REYIZESRESLE
year B H 79,751 91,789
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate SNPEFE R g 2 2 (725) (2,677)
Cash and cash equivalents at end RERZEESRESEEER
of the year 72,972 79,751
Analysis of balances of cash and BeRBESEEEELERIN
cash equivalents
Bank and cash balances RITNIB S &8 72,972 79,751
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 — T - A F =A=+—HIFE

92

GENERAL INFORMATION

Success Dragon International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Bermuda Companies Act. Its immediate holding
company and its ultimate holding company are Stone Steps
Investments Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands and Positive Kindness Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands. Its ultimate controlling party is Ms. Liu
Shannon Shuting. The address of the registered office of the
Company is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda. The address of the principal place of business of the
Company is 19/F., Guangdong Finance Building, 88 Connaught
Road West, Hong Kong. The shares of the Company are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The company
together with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in gold processing and trading
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are

mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on or

after 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

Supplier Finance arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Success Dragon International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e |RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = ZE A F=A=+—HIEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are mandatorily effective for current year (Continued)

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these consolidated financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability Disclosures®
Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial

Instruments®
Contracts Referencing Nature —
dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability'
Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 72

Annual improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027.

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards, which are not effective, will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiE — T - RAF =A=+—HLFE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in
financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation
of information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In
addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8
and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group
is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e |RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = ZE A F=A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made
by the primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset take into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiE — T - RAF =A=+—HLFE
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = ZE A F=A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interest in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interest in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in
a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a business
and no further assessment is needed.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including an
organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or
experience to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without
significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing
outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business combination
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

REMBBRR2EREERE
REFTHRES (F)

REEE(H)
EBEHRNEEWE (8

BEEWE

BEASERB AT EREBNEELBE
By o 7 55 B GBI K R SR BT WU /O 18 Y RT B
BENMFAENRAEBE NDERBEKBBEE
BREANATESREZCMEE SREE -
BEENSRBAERZZERNKERHNESR
FEIREEMABINEENAG - ZR 5P
TEELARBERRERE RS -

EBEOF

R EHEPREE BR-EERK
AR—EEELBE MMEVEHAEE
MBEENBERER - Mk BBREHESLE
EHNENEZEREE BRAGBUNTEHEB
TRFTAFRREE - MBRERNERSE N
FEFELEELNENEERTR A%
RRBBEEFIMHR AEBEANKE BN
FFBELEEELENEREENBERT A
B

WXL (TREARZES TOHEBS ) K
FHLBZH%XJ\EE REBEHEERZNER
RVEFE DRASEFEREE £5%
ERRKBIHEBEAEEZBERAEE
AEEUE R TR R BT 2 ER B R
HZ AP EAEME - WHERABK A —RR
EERERDETHER

BEERERERAT —T-_mE-—fagEHs 99



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M |RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiE — T - RAF =A=+—HLFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must
meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”)
except for transactions and events within the scope of HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, in which the Group applies HKAS 37
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to
identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.
Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment” at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at
the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the
lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date;
or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same amount
as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable
or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed
at the acquisition date.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent
consideration is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9 would
be accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have
affected the amounts recognised at that date.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability
to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is tested
for impairment together with the investment at the end of each
reporting period when there is objective evidence that the
investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share
of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised
in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports
profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits
only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Associates (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that associate and (i) the Group’s
share of the net assets of that associate plus any remaining
goodwill relating to that associate and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in an
associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure
the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
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the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the date of that
statement of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

(i) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
the foreign currency translation reserve.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(c) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and
of borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes.

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulate
impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the allocation
of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using

the straight-line method. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements

3
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The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception of the
contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

The Group applied practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease components, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component and
are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = ZE A F=A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received,;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life
and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on
the consolidated financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the

lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less

any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under

residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate

the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review payment under a
guaranteed residual value in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

° a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease (see below for the
accounting policy for “lease modifications”).

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are
leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets are assets of value below United State Dollars (‘US$”)
5,000.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

o The modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

° The consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
assets. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as other income.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”):

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of
an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

Success Dragon International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

REVMBBRR2EBREERE
REFTHRES (F)

£WMIA (&)
EHEE

EREENTERAKE

ok

:

FFE T ORI R & B E B BRI SR AT

- NEBEHRESRERBNZEBRN
THAEZEMEE R

- ANBEFREERMELZRSREML
BAXNAERAREERASZFE -

HENTHRENEBEELRIRQAFERA
Hpzmias (R ER A2 )

i

- NHEEREBREHRERERLESH
EERBMZEBBEATHEZERE
B &

- ANBFREERMELEZRSREML
BAXNAERAREERASZFE -

FEHEbEREERERRAFER ABR
E-HERVAEREREER  WZBREER
BUFFIEER  MIFmRNBEBE T ERTEM
BmEERESR [ XBEAMHIPERANESES
PR EARE  AEELE T A HH
WEERAMEEREZNNBARERFE
MERES -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e |RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 — L -—AF = A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

(0

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)
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Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of interest
income calculated using the effective interest method and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of these
debt instruments are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the heading of investment
revaluation reserve. Impairment allowances are recognised
in profit or loss with corresponding adjustment to other
comprehensive income without reducing the carrying
amounts of these debt instruments. When these debt
instruments are derecognised, the cumulative gains or
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
eamed on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains or losses, net” line item.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group adopts the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
recognise lifetime ECL for trade receivables that do not contain a
financing component from trading of gold related products. The
ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances and collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For other financial assets at amortised cost, the ECLs are based
on the 12-month ECL, unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
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(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) £RITE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE (&)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk ()  1EEEEBEEEN
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In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

REMBBRR2EREERE
REFTHRES (F)

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) £RITE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE (&)

(i

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has
a low risk of default, (i) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and (i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Success Dragon International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

Definition of default

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade and other receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
For collective assessment, the Group takes into

consideration the following characteristics when formulating
the grouping:

° Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment loss recognised and
reversed in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
and other receivables, where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified
as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or
loss.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual
cash flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified. When the
contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group
assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial assets will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial assets and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities, including trade and other payables and
accruals, amount due to directors and lease liabilities, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents goods or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced;
or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control
of the distinct goods or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies are as
follows:

Income from gold processing and trading business

Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to a customer,
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products and the customer has obtained legal
titles to the products. Payments are based on contract terms,
which are either payment upon delivery or payment in advance.
There is no warranty obligation nor right of return and refund.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Government grants and subsidies

Grants and subsidies from the government are recognised where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grants and subsidies
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions. Government grants and subsidies are recognised in
profit or loss and are included in “Other gain or loss, net”.

Employee benefits
(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
for those employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a ceiling of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000 and are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme. No forfeited contributions may be used by the
employers to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiE — T - RAF =A=+—HLFE

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(b) Pension obligations (Continued)

The Group also participates in a defined contribution
retirement scheme organised by the government in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Group is
required to contribute a specific percentage of the payroll of
its employees to the retirement scheme. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the retirement scheme. No
forfeited contributions may be used by the employers to
reduce the existing level of contributions.

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non market
based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date
of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non
market based vesting conditions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = ZE A F=A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or if the fair
value of the services rendered cannot be reliably measured, at
the fair value of the equity instruments granted. The fair value
is measured at the date the Group receives the services and is
recognised as an expense.

For share options forfeited before the vesting date, the attributable
share option reserve would be credited to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets.
Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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132

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = ZE A F=A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary difference can
be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4 EAREFTHAEHREFTIEEH

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION ZEERIR

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are RERAREBNEHE (N GEE I EHRERM
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, SRH M) B A AT EE AN E MR
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements, EMSENEENABREEEED HE - 14
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets T REE -G REEBREIIABF KR &
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. RAEBEENEMNREZAER BERER

The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical BEA RINEZE Gt -

experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an FHEt RBEREREEHERN - ME @5t st
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised BaT{& 2 2% HiRT - 8 ﬁ Eﬁ{ HE=E X R
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects AR - ME A BEIREERE - N
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods A= ;k;}(ﬁﬂ BBl EBEsTeEBTHEE
if the revision affects both current and future periods. R EARIRERR o

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies RS BERRE 2 ERHE

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key RERARFEERNRAR BB HEE
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting HEEREEREN T UV REEZEEELHEKX
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material FABRZAKEBEAEEBRRLEATEEER
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within E7HMEERBRNR T i o

the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment for prepayments for gold processing and (a) EENIREZSEFENENZERE
trading business

The Group evaluates the loss allowances of prepayments AEBERBEBELHENER  BIERE
for gold processing and trading business based on RRERFS TEE  HEENEER
purchase records and information, including advance g EHEEASEEFBEERMERKL
payments history, delivery notes, suppliers’ credit profile, BRSNS EESNIRESEBKHNRE
on-going business relationship with suppliers and underlying NRIEEERE SLLEEBHEAKX
economic conditions, which involves a significant level of {HEF o & £ FE PG B9 B 75 A O ol FB BN 4% 378
management estimation. If the financial conditions of the MR - BREEEE ] emNMhEt o

suppliers or the forecast economic conditions were to
deteriorate, actual loss allowance could be higher than
estimated.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(b)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer taste and competitor actions. The Group will
reassess the estimates by the end of each reporting period.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(c)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, after
taking into account of their estimated residual values. The
determination of the useful lives and residual values involve
management’s estimation. The Group assesses annually the
residual value and the useful lives of the property, plant and
equipment and if the expectation differs from the original
estimates, such a difference may impact the depreciation
in the year and the estimate will be changed in the future
period.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4 EAREFTHAEHREFTIEEH
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION ZEERER (&)
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) A TREEZEERR (F)

(e) Provision for expected credit losses on trade (e) EZENFBERELUREMENKE
receivables and deposits and other receivables HEREEEEREE
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for REEGFRABEREFER S EKGIE
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days WEMEEEE BEXDENBHX
past due for groups of various customer segments that HRAGRUBARANSEE SRS
have similar loss patterns. ATESD -
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s BEERETDVFZENRERRE L E R
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate FMEDE AEEBRERRE - AH
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with BELEERBECR THESAELEE
forward-looking information such as purchasing managers’ FHNERIE A2 NF8 8L - 0 - B FREIR
index. For instance, if forecast economic conditions are R—FELEREBL  BEEHHUEIG
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead m-RAEEEBORGELAE TG
to an increased number of defaults, the historical default FREH 2FEMELERINENE
rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical AT ETRE MR ET 0 2L -

observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical FELEREMELNE - BAKERR R
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions EHEEBR MA@ HE—E
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs HEMG - EHREEBENSEYEBER
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast B RBAMOR RS R EURR -
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss AEBNE L EEBRERRSAERR
experience and forecast of economic conditions may BRIMAIGEEERREL AR ER
also not be representative of a customer’s actual default BHOBR EBENREE-TE_AF=A
in the future. The provision for impairment of trade =+—HIEFENE S ERGIERE
receivables reversed for the year ended 31 March 2025 #731,206,0008 7T (ZE M4 : B i@
was HK$1,206,000 (2024: impairment loss recognised of RHY R B 5 182,373,000/ 7T) - BRI
HK$2,373,000), details of which are set out in note 18 to BEHRERE MR EMI 18 -

the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables and deposits and other receivables
(Continued)

Provision for impairment on deposits and other receivables
is measured as either 12-month expected credit losses
or lifetime expected credit losses, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of
a receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit losses.
In assessing the expected credit loss of deposits and other
receivables, management considers various factors such
as the ageing of the balances, existence of disputes, recent
historical payment patterns, any other available information
concerning the creditworthiness of counterparties
and forward-looking information. Management uses
this information to determine whether a provision for
impairment is required either for a specific counterparty
or for certain counterparties’ balances that have similar
loss patterns overall. The provision for impairment of
financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments reversed for the year ended 31 March 2025
was HK$124,000 (2024: impairment loss recognised of
HK$323,000), details of which are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of investment in an associate

The Group conducts impairment reviews of these assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Determining
whether interests in associate is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amounts of the investment
in an associate. The Group recognised the impairment of
interests in associate based on an assessment of future
economic benefits of the investment that will flow to the
Group.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision-makers, review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resource. The Group focuses
on provision of gold processing and the sale of gold and other
precious metals in the PRC during the year. Information reported
to the chief operating decision makers, for the purpose of
resources allocation and performance assessment, focuses on
the operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s
resources are integrated and no discrete operating segment
financial information is available. Accordingly, no operating
segment information is presented.

Geographical information

The geographical location of customers is based on the location
of the customers, irrespective of the origin of the goods or
services.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by geographical
location is detailed below:

7 EHER

ARABATEEFRIELCERRE BESE
BAEB 2R E  UFERBERROEE
B AEBERFRAB IR ETREHRES M
ThifEREREMESRE ARAKREE
REA RMIZLERREZRB[EERD
FERRBAFENEHEIRAEEERLE
XE O UWEBUKLED BB BEEFR - B
W2 528D HER o

EPHNHBENERSERNTPMELH N mE
A AR 75 1O SR M

AEBBRMELEE D 2 REIBEP ZW
SEEHITE

Revenue by geographical market B ET 5 E 52 W
2025 2024
—E_RE —T_mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
The PRC = 125,245 422,733
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information (Continued)

Revenue by geographical market (Continued)

Information about revenue from the Group’s customer individually
contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group is as follows:

5

7 EER ()
1 B R ()
BB HE 52 Wi ()

BRAMGAEEAKDNI0%A LB KA A E
BEPzWE 2 ERMT

2025 2024

—E-HF —EoE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Customer A ZEA 54,341 55,272

Customer B =FEB N/AT & A* 89,463

Customer C =FBC N/ATiE A* 69,861

Customer D 2FED N/ATE A* 83,547

Customer E ZFE 45,882 52,066
Notes: MisE

’ Customer B, C and D did not contribute over 10% of the Group’s

revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The geographical location of the non-current assets is based on
the physical location of the assets.

The Group’s non-current assets by geographical location are
detailed below:

! BE-Z-_AF=-A=+-ALFE FF
B CRDAALBWEM BRI AEIBI0% °

FERBEEMMIBUENENBEENERLE -

REBZMWIRML BB D ZIERBEEFFINT -

2025 2024

—E-HE —ENF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET FAET

Hong Kong &8 5,212 3,803
The PRC F 28,017 7,488
33,229 11,291
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6

REVENUE AND OTHER GAIN OR LOSS,
NET

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other gain or loss, net for

6 WERHEMEBEFHE

REE 2 AFE Wam & H A & & F R D 40

the years are as follows: T
2025 2024
—E-HE —ENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers: BEEFE 2 & &Ik :
Gold processing and trading business BEEMIERESER 125,245 422,733
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: BEEAAWEOAD
2025 2024
—E-REF —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
Gold processing and trading business EEMIREZER
Time of revenue recognition W 35 7 SR R
— At a point in time - AR R 125,245 422,733
Gold processing and trading business EEMIRER%HK

The Group process gold and sales of gold and other precious
metal to the customers. Sales are recognised when control of the
products has transferred, being when the products are delivered
to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the products and the customer has
obtained legal titles to the products.

AEEREFPRHAESMIMEEEERE
MESE HERERZIENBEERTEP
(AEMRNTEFRIEAIEETERTPE
REMNABTEEREFPEGERIETE
P HE) B e AR
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REVENUE AND OTHER GAIN OR LOSS, 6

NET (Continued)

Gold processing and trading business (Continued)

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers as this is at a point in time that the consideration
is unconditional because only the passage of time is required

e |RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = ZE A F=A=+—HIEFE

EeMIRES £ (EF)

Wi K H b B HE (&)

EURERERINTEFEER  RER
Rzl EBAEX RGN  EAFTKEE
BEAJKEBRE - BXEPRBM RS HERR

before the payment is due. Deposits received from customers are AHBE-
recognised as contract liabilities.
2025 2024
—E-REF —EpOE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Other gain or loss, net: HthBEF8
Interest income on bank deposits RITFRF B WA 1,100 1,723
Gain on termination of lease rIFEE W 75 36
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYE  WRNREZEIE
equipment (23) (525)
Impairment loss on investment in an HEHEH Mg RRREDN
associate reversed REE R - 2,000
Impairment loss on trade receivables B E 5 EWHRIEZ RERE
reversed 1,206 -
Impairment loss on financial assets included  #& [@ 4 & & 2 (B35 H b e W k18 -
in other receivables, deposits and & MIEFRIE) 2 BAEFE
prepayments reversed 124 -
Government subsidies XS 45 B - 76
Sundry income HIBIA 368 2
2,850 3,312
FINANCE COSTS 7 RERK
2025 2024
—E"RE —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEABEZME 210 566
Total interest expenses on financial liabilities I JEIZ A FEFF AR 2
not at fair value through profit or loss cRBEZN MRS 210 566
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8 PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8 KFAIER
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging: NEB ZBBRAEN 2B TS IEBER -
2025 2024
b —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
Depreciation of property, plant and W -  BEBRREITE

equipment 2,690 907
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREESERE 1,696 3,411
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERAE

(included in “cost of sales”) (FEATSHERKRR]) 94,520 385,496
Auditor’s remuneration Z B RN B & 900 900
Impairment loss on trade receivables BEHRAZE S REKFIEZ FEEE

recognised = 2,373
Impairment loss on financial assets included R4 MEE (BIEHEMbER

in other receivables, deposits and MIE - REMEMNRE) 2

prepayments recognised A EE = 323
Staff costs (including BETIRA(BRESHH) -

Directors’ remuneration):

Salaries, allowances and e RERAEGEYREN

other benefits in kind 10,366 10,140

Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIMHR 1,271 1,240

Total staff costs BT AN4R2%E 11,637 11,380
Cost of inventories sold includes raw materials, staff costs, EEGFEXRABERMA - BIRA ITE
depreciation charges and other direct overheads of approximately ERREMEREE A 94,520,000 T (ZF
HK$94,520,000 (2024: HK$385,496,000) which are included in Z VY4 : 385,496,000/ 7T) B B IEE A
the amounts disclosed separately above. EXOHBPENESENRN -

9 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9 MBHRAX
2025 2024
—E-REF —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Current tax — The PRC BN AR 18 —

Provision for the year REEZHEAME 4,605 6,334
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax is required since the AR AEEREBEE_E_HAEE _E_mWE
Group has no assessable profits for the years ended 31 March ZHA=t+—BItEEYEESFEN e
2025 and 2024. AEL B BREBHAERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 — L -—AF = A=+—HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC was 25% for both
years.

Tax arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

9

FREHMAX (&)

REBFECERSTOE (TEEMBFTED &
CEMABTOEERGD  ARRLRHEZ
BB 2 B) 2 A R R B 25% ©

REMENEEREE 2RIBIIRE BNEER
ZIBITIREETH o

$¢Jﬂ5ﬁ/e X EGA B EME2E YK
HERMBRADEF A HERAT ¢

2025 2024

—E-RF —EmF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FHET

Profit before tax i F5 Al Vs A 13,119 12,512

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates in BRE ISR ERE RSB R TR

respective tax jurisdiction §+§ opzRl 4,101 4,245

Tax effect of income not taxable BERBBAZ BB & (415) (287)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible AAHBREIZ 2B E 21 186

Tax effect of taxes losses not recognised AR IBEEB MG E 1,514 2,190

Over-provision in prior years BEEEBREREG (616) _

Income tax for the year KEZHMEH 4,605 6,334
Deferred tax asset has not been recognised in the consolidated HAARKEZFIRH AT G488 BER

financial statements in respect of unused tax losses available for
offset against future profits due to the uncertainty of future profit
streams. As at 31 March 2025, the unrecognised tax losses of
the Group amounted to approximately HK$61,227,000 (2024:
approximately HK$52,053,000). These tax losses have no expiry
date except that approximately HK$3,868,000 will expire from
2025 to 2029 (2024: approximately HK$336,000 will expire from
2024 to 2028).

BREREREZERERQTF

%ﬁﬁ%?ﬁ%@ﬁﬁ%?ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁiﬂﬂiX/ﬁnﬂE’ﬁEEﬂ
ABEERMEERELERBEE R _F

ThREZAZt+— B AEEAREROTEE
B8 & 5B 4 R61,227,00008 7T (—Z 2 — /Y4 :
#952,053,000/8 7T) © Bk #73,868,0007% 7T # 5

TECRFEZENAFER(ZENE
#7336,0008 TR T _WFE2 T = \F
&) oN - ZEBIEE B EE B -

—E_NME_REERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HiZE =—ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

10 DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 10 EEREEBREFALTZHE
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, B TR BERQAENEI3)ERAD
section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part T (HEESENER) RO 2HEENES
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of MITHABBEZMT -

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) ES=M2

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE-Z-Af=B=t-HLFE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and other Discretionary benefits Total
Fees benefits bonus scheme emoluments
e 2 RIKEA
we  REMEF BT HE Wehst

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL TERL TERL TERL

Executive directors: BTES:

Mr. Liu Shiwei MR s - 2,000 - 36 2,036
Mr. Wang Baozhi TRERE - 483 - 122 605
Mr. Ding Lei TB%E - 500 - 18 518

Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES:

Mr. Deng Yougao HAREE 120 - = = 120
Ms. Wong Chi Yan BTERT 120 - - - 120
Prof. Cheung Ka Yue REMHE 120 - - - 120

360 2,983 - 176 3,519
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = ZE A F=A=+—HIEFE

10 DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

10 EERTEEEBFALTZHE

(%)
(a) EEMS ()

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-ME=A=1T-HLEE

Salaries,

allowances Retirement
and other  Discretionary benefits Total
Fees bengfits bonus scheme  emoluments
5 28 RIRER
we  REMEN BEiEa HE Meas
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR THx THR THr THR
Executive directors: BTES:
Mr. Liu Shiwei MtExE - 2,000 - - 2,000
Mr. Wang Baozhi TRERE - 483 - - 483
Mr. Ding Lei T&%E - 500 - - 500
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES:
Mr. Deng Yougao BaELLE 120 . : . 20
Ms. Wong Chi Yan BLERT 120 - - - 120
Prof. Cheung Ka Yue REBHE 120 - - _ 120
360 2,983 - - 3,343
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiE — T - RAF =A=+—HLFE

10 DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 10 EERTEEEHFALTZHE
(%)

INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid employees

Three (2024: Three) of the five highest paid individuals
of the Group were Directors whose emoluments are set
out in the above. For the year ended 31 March 2025, the
remaining two (2024: two) highest paid employees who
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Group were
presented below.

(b)

EEREHER

AEBLEBREHFALTRE=R (=%
—HFEZR)EE AMEFBERT
REX -REEBE T -_AHF=A
=t RALFEEHRE (T ZMOF
ME)&REHFES (TEREEERITHA
B)ZBE 25T -

2025 2024
—E-FHEF — T opE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Salaries, allowances and other benefits ¥4 -~ ;285 & E B 971 F
in kind 1,340 1,320

Retirement benefits scheme RORRE R EH SR

contributions 36 36
1,376 1,356

The emoluments fell within the following band:

Mz FTIEE -

Number of individuals

AE
2025 2024
i S —EUF
HK$NIl to HK$1,000,000 Z 3 70 21,000,000 7T 2 2

(c) No emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors
or the five highest paid individual as compensation of
loss of office for the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024. And no emoluments have been paid by the Group
to the Directors or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group during both
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

(d) There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year ended
31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).
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BHE-_Z_AFK_Z_-_MFE=A
=+ —HLEFE AREHERESL
hAEEEFATINENMNE  (EREE
Biaz@HE RREE-T-RFR-
TMNF=A=1+—HLEREFE K
SEBMERNESEIAEEaFHFALTIR
RIS - 1EAEZINBEAE B M

B0 7 % -

REBEE-_E-_AF=A=+—HItFE
W WEFALZHEEEERERRER
B2EMME (T _MHF : £F) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = ZE A F=A=+—HIEFE

11 DIVIDEND 11 RE
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for EEelfEgERNBE-_S-_AF =8
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil). Z+—BUHFEZEARE (DU 4E) -
12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 BRER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share AARHEAEANEESRERRESRF HE
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following RUATEIEBTESH -
data:
Basic earnings per share BREXREF
2025 2024
—E-REF —E-mF
Profit for the purpose of basic earnings RBEFESRERER ZHER
per share
Profit for the year attributable to owners of KX T A A JE(E K F Z3% 7
the Company (in HK$'000) (LAF#Tat) 8,514 6,178
2025 2024
—E-EHF —ENF
Number of shares for the purpose of AETESRELRZNZKR G
basic earnings per share =]
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & 31T & @M% 2 INEFHE (R
in issue (excluding treasury shares) ('000) RBEERS) (F&) 348,335 349,520
Diluted earnings per share BREBEER
No diluted earnings per share for both of the years ended 31 HE-_ZE-_RAFER-_ZE-_NFE=A=+—8H
March 2025 and 2024 is presented as there were no potential IFREEE WEZ5SIREEEF - Ji A
ordinary shares in issue for both of the years presented. Rz EFEE AT EZEITEEL B -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiE — T - RAF =A=+—HLFE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 W% - WEERRE
Leasehold Furniture and Office Plant and Motor
improvements fixtures equipment machinery vehicles Total
iLUH BAER HAE HER
) %8 B B bt it
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000
TR Thn Thn THn THn TR

COST: B

At 1 Aprl 2023 RZEZZ%RA-A 3,616 2,364 15,930 37 1258 26,885
Additions HE - 3 il 23 4 28
Disposals e (341) ] (66) (180) (332) (%22
Exchange difference EXER (16) (1) (10) 199) 60) (285)

At 31 March 2024 and R-E-mE=A=1-A
1 April 2024 R=2-mEMA-A 3,259 2,363 15,875 3,572 1,337 26,406
Additions HE 3,921 - 2,328 19,092 115 26,362
Disposals HeE - - (14) (14) - 28)
Exchange difference EXES (34 - @) (19) (10) (261)

At 31 March 2025 RZE-R%=F=1-H 7,152 2,363 18,168 23,354 1,442 52479

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ EtHER¥ERE:

AND IMPAIRMENT LOSS:

At 1 Aprl 2023 RZEZZ%RA-A 3210 2,38 15,431 688 321 22,038
Provided during the year Emie 10 15 31 3?2 179 907
Eiminated on disposals HERHH 20) i 26) 21) (119) (186)
Exchange diference EiZE i - () (34 6] (46)

At 31 March 2024 and RZB-REZA=1-REK
1 April 2024 “E_MEMA-A 3,259 2,342 15,753 985 374 2,13
Provided during the year EREE 302 5 345 1,790 248 2,690
Eiminated on clisposals HERAH - - “ (1) - (9)
Exchange diference ERZE €] - €] (18) @ (28)

At 31 March 2025 RZERFZA=T-H 3,558 2,347 16,091 2,756 618 25,310

CARRYING AMOUNTS: Raf:

At 31 March 2025 RZE-RE=A=T-8 3,594 16 2,017 20,598 824 27,109
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=+-H - l 122 2,587 963 3,693
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 — L -—AF = A=+—HIFE

14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14 EAREE
The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the AEBFAREENEEEMAREHAN
movements during the reporting periods are as follows: SHER
HK$’000
FET
At 1 April 2023 R-E-_=F/F—H 6,387
Additions INE 2,823
Depreciation charged for the year REFHNBRZFE (3,411)
Termination of lease mIEMEE (1,958)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 _E_Ei A=+—HK
—ENFMA—H 3,841
Additions nE 1,760
Depreciation charged for the year NEEMBRZITE (1,696)
Termination of lease BIEEE (1,424)
At 31 March 2025 R_E_RE=A=+—H 2,481
The amounts recognised in consolidated statement of profit or RErEERRPERNEHSERBEHST|OT
loss in relation to leases are as follows:
2025 2024
—E-FRF —EUF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEABENFE 210 566
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEETEEA 1,696 3,411
Expense relating to short-term leases e HIE B AR 1,753 347
Expense relating to lease of low-value assets, X {BEEEREIHM@E X
excluding short-term leases of low-value (REEEEENRCEHASEIN
assets = -
Gain on lease termination rIEHER S 75 36
The Group leases various office premises and plants and REFBHEZEHRASTYEUNTE RS
machineries. Lease agreements are typically made for fixed HEWEWHR—REEE—ZE=F- TH,HQ
periods of 1 to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an B R A AERER %}z*ﬁﬂET [A] B9 5 3R K2 (5
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and H-HEMETmMEMRZZE BEHEEE
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants TEREEIVEE -
and the leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HiZE =—ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

15 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 15 RA—RBEQIATNRE

2025 2024

—E-FHF —ENEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FAET

Carrying amount BREE 3,639 3,757
As at 31 March 2025, the Group indirectly holds 24.56% (2024: R-ZEBE-_RAE=A=1+—"8B AEBFHEB
24.56%) equity interest in Maiden Faith Capital Group Limited KRR EMBAREEEEEEZELRE
(“Maiden”) through a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. BEAR ([EE])24.56% (—F — Q4 :

24.56% ) B I HE o

Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary Percentage of equity
Name of registration/ shares/ interest attributable
company operations paid-in capital to the Company Principal activities
HEMRL
HEmERE S ERITEBER
AR BB B E i B BEHELEHE AARECRERIE FEER
Directly Indirectly
HiE 4
Maiden British Virgin Islands US$13,435 — 24.56% Provisions of investment

advisory services, insurance
brokerage services and
advisory services on
securities dealing
LERAS 13,4353 7T — 24.56% REIREFEMRE - REEL
AR 75 I 7% 7 32 5 A 8 AR 755

+

BiE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 — L -—AF = A=+—HIFE

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

15 R—EBRERANKRE (&)

(Continued)
2025 2024
—E_FRE —EZF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
At 31 March: R=ZA=+—8:
Non-current assets ERBEE 8,470 8,618
Current assets MENE E 138,023 205,322
Current liabilities mBaE (131,681) (198,547)
Net assets BEFE 14,812 15,293
Group’s share of net assets AEBEELEEFE 3,639 3,757
Less: impairment loss for the year B RFEERERIE = -
Carrying amount BREE 3,639 3,757
Year ended 31 March: BE=A=1+—HLEE:
Revenue e 46,869 33,073
(Loss)/profit from operations REAKLER (BB 7 (481) 4,805
(Loss)/profit for the year NEE (BE) 5 F) (481) 4,805
Other comprehensive income Hth 2 i & = -
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2m(EiE) EeE (481) 4,805
Dividends received from an associate B — Mt E A ERE - -
GOODWILL 16 BEHE
HK$'000
FHET
Cost 2%
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, EA:’—;_*imﬂ A - ZZ2Z@mWF=A=+—H"
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 ZECMENA-—ARZE_RF=A=+—H 409
Accumulated impairment losses Rt REEE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, ﬁAzngim A—B -ZZTZmF=H=+—QH"
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 —ECNFNA—HBEZE-_RAF=A=+—H 409
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=A=+—H -
At 31 March 2024 RZFZMF=A=+—H -

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs”) that are
expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying
amount of goodwill had been allocated to money lending services.

REBEHFRBORE REBRIEE

B EREB AT ER
(ReELEM]) BEZE@ED
BERTS °

BREREREZERERQTF

—E-ME_RFER

BNRCELEMN

=78
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 — T - A F =A=+—HIFE

16 GOODWILL (Continued) 16
At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the goodwill relating to lending
business is fully impaired due to the cessation of the money
lending business.

EE ()

R-ZB-_RAFR-_T_MF=A=+—8"
HRNMERBEL BEREXFEEENEE
EABBRE -

17 INVENTORIES 17 #E
2025 2024
—E_RE —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
Work in progress TR 27,439 35
Consumable and finished goods SHFE G R B M 64,513 12,778
91,952 12,813
18 TRADE RECEIVABLES 18 B S EWFIE
The Group’s trading terms generally ranged from 30 to 90 days REFBHEERFNESERAEEST  —
with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers, BN FI0HEQQH @ EFE, —MEwmEX
where payment in advance is normally required. The Group seeks FEEMNT - NEEBMOEBIZEHEKRKEEZER
to maintain strict control over its outstanding trade receivables BEEINTE  LEEEREREREK 5
to minimise credit risk. Ageing analysis of trade receivables are LEEETHENE S ERTENERR DN -
reviewed regularly by senior management.
2025 2024
—E_FRE —EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHET
Trade receivables, gross amount Z 5 EWGRIR - B 8,705 12,641
Less: Provision for impairment of trade BB SR GRIE R E S
receivables (1,167) (2,373)
7,538 10,168
The ageing analysis of trade receivables (before impairment losses WBIERZEQH B EWRRE (EAREEIE
recognised), based on the invoice date, is as follows: Bl ZEREE DT -
2025 2024
—E_FRE —EPUF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHET FHET
Within 90 days 90H A 8,546 3,685
Over 91 days HBiEo1H 159 8,856
8,705 12,541
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 — L -—AF = A=+—HIFE

18 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 18 ¥ 5 EWHIE ()
The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 NEEEREAMBERELERFER 2B
to provide for expected credit losses provision for the above B EME S ERE Iﬁﬁkﬁgﬂgﬁ/ﬁﬁﬁg
trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade BEE- ATEEHEZEEE B3 EKRITT
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk ERAREERRE#E LBEXE S E - ?E
characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit losses HEBERIAASHIENEEE -

also incorporate forward looking information.

Movements on the Group’s allowance for impairment of trade REEMNESFERZTEREREBEHET
receivables are as follows:

2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTExT FHET
At beginning of the year REAT] 2,373 -
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised B (#0) /TR E kS (1,206) 2,373
At end of the year RER 1,167 2,373
The Group’s loss allowance for trade receivables was determined AEENESRWFIEBEREBETOT :
as follows:
Total
Mt
At 31 March 2025 R=ZZE-ZHEF=ZHA=+—H
Weighted average expected loss rate kT TEHEs e = 13.4%
Receivable amount (HK$’000) & W RIE (FBT) 8,705
Loss allowance (HK$’000) E a8 E (T T) 1,167
At 31 March 2024 R=ZZE-WME=ZA=+—H
Weighted average expected loss rate MEFEHEREEE 18.9%
Receivable amount (HK$’000) JE W RIE (FET) 12,541
Loss allowance (HK$’000) EEEE (T 2,373
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiE — T - RAF =A=+—HLFE

19 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 19 HMEWRIE - RERFBNLKE

PREPAYMENTS

2025 2024
—E-HE —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHE T FET
Prepayments for gold processing and BEMIRESED
trading business (Note (i) Z TEA RIE (M) 14,880 88,601
Deposits and prepayments e RIEFHIE 1,756 3,434
16,636 92,035
Less: Accumulated impairment losses W BETREEE = (1,660)
16,636 90,375
Other receivables H b fEWRIR 300 582
Less: Accumulated impairment losses W BETREEE (7) (131)
293 451
16,929 90,826

Note: M5t -

0] At 31 March 2025, the Group had prepayments for gold [0) R-B-_RAF=A=+—0 A&EENES
processing and trading business is mainly consisted of prepayment MIKBZEBBANREIERER—F
to an independent supplier A amounted to HK$Nil (2024: BYHEFAZTORBERVME RSB ER
HK$83,595,000) for purchasing raw material and subcontracting NBEFNZE 2EASET(ZE N4
fee. Taking into the independent supplier and the Group had 83,595,000/ 7T) © & BB rEpg A S
stable business relationship and no default history, management EEEBENEBEERBEEENLE A%
of the Group are on the view that the loss allowance of these EEERAZEENREBENEEREIRA
prepayments is considered insignificant. (&N

(ii) The movements in provision for impairment of financial assets (ii) cHMEE (BEEMEBWHIE  EHe RIEN
included in other receivables, deposits and prepayments are as B RERENEESMNT
follows:

2025 2024

—E-HF —ENF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

At beginning of the year REH) 1,791 6,134
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised EEE (), (124) 323

Amounts written off as uncollectible s A7 AT U R RIR (1,660) (4,666)
At end of the year RER 7 1,791
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = ZE A F=A=+—HIEFE

BANK AND CASH BALANCES

At the end of the reporting period, bank and cash balances
comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits
with an original maturity period of three months or less. Bank
balance carried interest at market rates of 0.01% — 3.95% per
annum (2024: 0.01% — 4.93% per annum).

At the end of the reporting period, the bank and cash balances
of the Group denominated in RMB were HK$57,204,000 (2024:
HK$46,630,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

TRADE PAYABLES

The ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the date of receipt of consumables or
goods purchased, is as follows:

20 RITRBESHEER

RBERR RITRRSERBREBEAEES

BEzREeMBEERHBEA=Z@ANUTZE
HISR1TIE R - SRITAE MR B F0.01[E E3.95/2
—EFE  §F0.01EE4.93F) 25 F

w38 o

NMEER  REEBUAAREAEZRITR
IR 4 4% $4 557,204,000 70 (—ZT — M0 4F -
46,630,000/ 70) - AR H A INE BB

o B 91 7 16k 151

21 EZEMNRE

RiEmBEZ R EREE R SFE
EHRNRERREHRZEEINAT :

2025 2024
—E_RE —ET_mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT F# T
0 to 90 days 0£90H 39,874 7,611
91 to 180 days 912180H 2,935 16,375
181 to 365 days 181£2365H 7,095 1,792
Over 365 days 3658 M £ 11,611 4,045
61,515 29,823

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22 HiENFIENRESEHR
2025 2024
—ZE"RE —E_mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHExT F#ET
Accrued expenses JEETFI X 3,070 5113
Accrued staff cost JEFFB TR 1,243 473
Other payables (Note) Hh S RO (M 5E) 9,875 23,380
14,188 28,966

Note: At 31 March 2025, the Group had amount due to related parties of
approximately HK$Nil (2024: HK$8,407,000) which were included
in other payables. Details of which set out in Note 31 to the

consolidated financial statements.

BEERERERAE —T-_UE—

M- R—_ZE_REF=ZA=+—8 AEEEN
MEATHABOATS B L(ZT -
8,407,000/ 70) * BERt AH M E FRIBEF ©
BEAFBIEAREMIBEHREWNEST -
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23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES EHEE
2025 2024
—E-HE —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
At 1 April RIOA—H 11,207 35,389
Changes during the year FRE (3,835) (24,182)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 7,372 11,207

Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations
unsatisfied at end of the year and expected to be recognised as

RERDEEFEXRBHEELAEHRIAT
FEABRBENZZER

revenue in:
2025 2024
—E-RE —EOF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
- 2025 and 2024 respectively — DHA-ZE-_RHF
T —ZFE - F 7,372 11,207
Changes in contract liabilities during the year: FERNEHBEZEE
2025 2024
—E-RE —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTET FHET
Increase due to operations in the year I R (R AR 2 5 RS T A 12,083 244,490
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue BEHBBEEESTIZIAT
recognised in FIHBER 2 W=
— processing of gold from gold ores - BEeBAaMIKES 15,918 268,672

A contract liability represents the Company’s obligation to transfer
products or services to a customer for which the Company has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customers.

ABHNABEARARDRIERET - REM
ERAEFEEBMAMBORL -
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24 LEASE LIABILITIES 24 HEAE
Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
HEMNR HENRZRE
2025 2024 2025 2024

ZE-HRF —TWNFE ZBZHE —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FTER FET FERT FET
Within one year —F R 2,061 3,248 1,892 3,005
In the second to fifth years, E_EFERAFR
inclusive (BREEEMT) 729 1,089 700 1,034
2,790 4,337 2,592 4,039
Less: Future finance charges B RIREE E A (198) (298)
Present value of lease liabilites & & &2 IRE 2,592 4,039
Less: Amount due for settlement J& = #1218 3 R 2| #A 17 78
within 12 months (shown B 2 A (BT
under current liabilities) PEEET) (1,892) (3,0095)
Amount due for settlement after 7 12{E 7 1& B B B 445
12 months | 700 1,034
At 31 March 2025, the average effective borrowing rate was RZE_RAF=ZA=+—"HB EZFHER
9.728% (2024: 9.728%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract | & /B9.728[E (_ T Y4 : 9.728/F) ° Fl
dates and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. RPREMBHET HAEBEEQTE

IR -

25 AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS 25 BNESNE
The amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest-free and ENEEZIBAEER « A NREREREE -

repayable on demand.
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26 SHARE CAPITAL 26 WA
2025 2024
—E-FHF —ETE
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAET
Authorised: EE
30,000,000,000 (31 March 2024 30,000,000,000/% (= ZF = qF = A
30,000,000,000) ordinary shares of =-+—H : 30,000,000,0000%)
HK$0.01 each FREEOIE L EEE 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHRE:
349,519,567 (31 March 2024: 349,519,567) 349,519,567 (—ZZ —F= A
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each =+—H :349,519,5670%)
BRREEC.01E L2 B 3,495 3,495

Movement of the number of shares issued and the share capital
during the reporting periods are as follows:

RBERANESETRMHEE RERAZSHNT

Number of
share issued Share capital
BITROEE [N
’000 HK$’000
T FHET
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, Eé:%:: FMPA—H-
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 ZEUE=A=+—H"
ZTEOFENMA-AR
—E-RAF=A=+—H 349,520 3,495

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consist of equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves. The Directors review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the associated risks, and take appropriate actions to
adjust the Group’s capital structure. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior periods.
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27 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants include directors, full-time
employees, senior executives and consultants of the Group.
The Scheme has been adopted since 28 September 2012 and
amended on 8 August 2014, and unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares falling to be issued in respect of
the unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted
under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise,
to 10% of the shares of the Company as at the date of approval
of the Scheme. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time. Any further grant of shares options in excess
of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

The subscription price will be determined at the discretion of
the Directors, provided that it shall not be less than the higher
of the closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange as shown in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the offer date, the average of the closing prices of
the shares as shown in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
offer date and the nominal value of the share on the offer date.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

If the options remain unexercised after a period of 5 years from
the date of grant, the options expire.

The Scheme is stated to provide that if the grantee of a share
option ceases to be an eligible participant by reason of voluntary
resignation or expiration of his term of directorship in accordance
with his contract of employment before exercising the share
option in full, he may exercise the share option in whole or in part
within a period of six months following the date of such cessation.

There were no share options outstanding, granted, exercised,
cancelled, forfeited or lapsed during both of the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024.

27
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28 TREASURY SHARES AND RESERVES 28 EERGO KRB

(@) Treasury shares and reserves of the Group

The amounts of the Group’s treasury shares and reserves
and the movements therein for the year are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the
Group.

(i) Treasury shares

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company
repurchased an aggregate number of 7,385,000
(2024: nil) of its own shares from the market and
which had not been cancelled as at 31 March 2025.
The shares repurchased at prices ranging from
HK$0.275 to HK$0.550 per share, with an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$3,238,000.

(i)  Capital reserve

The capital reserve as at 31 March 2025 and 2024
comprises the deemed capital contribution arising
from non-current interest-free shareholder’s loan.

(iij)  Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve as at 31 March
2025 and 2024 comprises the fair value loss from
the unlisted equity classified as financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income.

(iv) Foreign currency translation reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve comprises foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations.

(v) Capital redemption reserve
The Capital redemption reserve represented the
equity of the issue premium which has always existed

and which is no longer required to be presented as a
liability.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = ZE A F=A=+—HIEFE

28 EFRHKFHiE (&)

(Continued)
(b) Treasury shares and reserves of the Company (b) AQXBEFERMDRFHE
Capital
Share  Treasury Capital redemption Accumulated
premium shares reserve reserve losses Total
ROEE EFRG ErRE EAEERE ZHER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TEL FEL T FEL FEL
At 1 April 2023 WZZE-=FMA-AH 1,495,702 - 3,886 1,190 (1,399,650) 101,128
Total comprehensive loss for the year A% 2 HE B - - - - (8,279) (8,279)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RWZE-ME=A=+—H}
“E-NEMA-AH 1,495,702 - 3,886 1,190 (1,407,929) 92,849
Total comprehensive loss for the year AE[E 2 HEEAE - - - - (7,238) (7,238)
Repurchase of shares BRRH - (3,238) - - - (3,238)
At 31 March 2025 W-ZE-R%=F=1-H 1,495,702 (3,238) 3,886 1,190 (1,415,167 82,373
BRERERERAT —Z_mE-—nFEHRE 161



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M |RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiE — T - RAF =A=+—HLFE

29 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 29 A& T IEMRRE

THE COMPANY

2025 2024
—E-RF —E-ME
Note HK$’000 HK$3009
B 5 FET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BN R E 33 46
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR ZIRE 6,603 6,603
Right-of-use assets CAEEE 1,540 -
8,176 6,649
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, deposits and HEUFRIE -« e RTEN
prepayments KIE 549 588
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE U BT 188 2 B3R IR 66,074 61,667
Loan to a subsidiary m— B A F) B R 19,742 19,742
Bank and cash balances RITRREEH 15,376 32,756
101,741 114,753
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals Hib AN EE A 2,206 4,274
Amount due to a subsidiary FEAS — I B A B 5 E 16,710 16,708
Amounts due to directors BT E E R 3,575 4,076
Lease liabilities HEAE 858 -
23,349 25,058
Net current assets REBEEFE 78,392 89,695
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERS 86,568 96,344
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 700 -
700 -
NET ASSETS EEZRE 85,868 96,344
Capital and reserves ERKHE
Share capital & s 3,495 3,495
Reserves 1 28(b) 82,373 92,849
TOTAL EQUITY mER 85,868 96,344

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 27 June 2025

ARATHBRAENR —_ZE-_HAE~A-++
AEZEESeMERBRERNE  THTIES

and are signed on its behalf by rREZEZ:
LIU Shiwei WANG Baozhi
=y IRE
Director Director
EZE EF
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments including, trade and other
receivables, bank and cash balances, trade and other payables
are disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated financial
statements. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from commercial transactions,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a currency
that is not the functional currencies of the Group entities.
The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The foreign currency risk exposure of Macau and Hong
Kong entities arising from business transactions were
insignificant. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on bank

balances.

The Group considered interest rate risk on bank balances is
insignificant.

30 €@ T H

AEEZFZ2RMIABREE S RAMER
RIE-RORBACESR BIREMENK
B YREAVBEBRREBZMERARE -
FRZ%FeRTAZARERETSAR (8%
R EMERRE)  FERBARABE SR
B REZERBRZBRENR T &
BEEENEEZSAR UERKKEER
Ho B B R I

(a) SRR

SNEE VR K B AR SR BIE T B A8 LA BE
BRI BB ECEHERS B
BENEE AEEBTIERELIINE
BB - WHER AR EREELEREAIN
B o

MEALBEEERRAEBRHMESL 25
R R EMN o Fuit - WE2IHERESD
#r o

(b) FIRER
AEBRBITEBRIBITH SN XK B
MmEER S RENERARE -

REBRRRIT AR N K E R B -

BEERERERAT —TomE—faERs 163



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M |RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HiZE =—ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification at the end of the reporting
period. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts

30 2R T A (&)

(c)

FERR

FEBEERLKRTEEERFNE=]
ETRD - ARBBRTINA RIZE
BRFETRINEFPHABTREER
BZF o MAN - YRS SRISERER

RABBER FRER

TERETRBEASENEERR (X2
ERBHRER (BEFNET S EHKA
BRI RS EMER RN RR
BERRNERERDEMEENEE
BREEREERR -ZE2BIRE
TREENEREESZY -

for financial assets.

31 March 2025 —E-_RF=H=1+—H

Lifetime
12-month Lifetime Lifetime expected
expected expected expected credit
credit credit credit losses
losses losses losses Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
128 AR 2HREN 2HREN 2HREN
FEER FEFR FEFR REFR
LTS EPIEES ERIEES BfA % @5t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TEL TEL TR T TExn
Trade recelvables’ B A RYE" - - - 8,705 8,705
Financial assets included in other receivables, A EfifElisIE - &4 &
deposits and prepayments™ BRAENEREE"
- Normal -I% 1,065 - - - 1,065
- Doubtful -xE - - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREFERE
— Not yet past due - WABE 72,972 - - = 72,972
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

31 March 2024

30 &R T A (&)
€) EERKE)

RABBRFAEE (&)

—ZE-NFE=A=+—H

Lifetime
12-month Lifetime Lifetime expected
expected expected expected credit
credit credit credit losses
losses losses losses Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
12EA%EE 2 HEH 2 HEH 2 HEH
FEBE FEBE FEBE FEBE
F1ER FAER EER ok apa @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR THR THR THR THR
Trade receivables” 2 S lE - - - 12,541 12,541
Financial assets included in other receivables, it A E fitENFE 114 &
deposits and prepayments™ BRAENEREE"
- Normal -E% 2,359 - - - 2,359
- Doubtful -xE - - 1,660 - 1,660
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReSEER
- Not yet past due - AR 79,751 - - - 79,751

ke

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based on the
provision matrix is disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables, deposits and prepayments is considered to
be “normal” when they are not past due, except for the
amount under Stage 2 of expected credit losses, there is
no information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The
amount included in Stage 2 of expected credit losses was
past due but without being credit-impaired and considered
as recoverable. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

BREREREZERERQTF

ke

HRAEEFRERBBETENE
SRR - ERBERENE R
REMBMRME18HE -

ERFTAEMEYGIA - REe RIAN
FENTMEER RS BRES
EEBBEEEBR TR MEE
HETCREEBNTERAREE
RiEAREL  AtEEEERRE
BRIER] FFAEBEEBES2
EERNeHCAHELEFERE
YHRBEHATERE - [ 2REEZ
EEERBEHE/IREK] -

—E_NME_REERE
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d)

30 2R T A (&)

Liquidity risk (d RBESERE
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors REEBEREBESAR THE  AEBEEXR
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed R@EFIRA MR SZSEBEBEREEER
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s BREAAREEZELEBREHRES R
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash BEReRNERDTEZKT - BERE
flows. The management will closely monitor the cash R R RS ERTEA RS RE
flows generated from operations and the Group’s needs RAREEBHTRAINILRE 7 FE -
for different types of external financing and will negotiate THEEEEETERNEERARE
for proper facilities and consider proper means of equity (@) z@EE 7= e
financing as appropriate.
The following table details the Group’s remaining TERHFNAEBeHEBBEZHTITEHE
contractual maturities for its financial liabilities. The table BB TROKBLRMAGBNHRAEET
has been drawn up based on undiscounted cash flows of EEBEEEZREHHZRBERR S RE
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the wE - TREEMNERASRESRE -
Group can be required to pay. The table includes both WHABRAZE  ARMECHESRIE
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest REHRZ M ZRHGtE o
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.
31 March 2025
—E_Hf¥=H=+—-H
On demand Total
or within undiscounted Carrying
one year 1-5 years cash flows amount
RERD REB
R—ER —Z2RF BERELE BREE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR THET THET
Trade payables B HRENFIE 61,515 - 61,515 61,515
Other payables and accruals H e 1 3008 R e AT E A 14,188 - 14,188 14,188
Amounts due to directors ENESHIE 3,575 - 3,575 3,575
Lease liabilities HEEE 2,061 729 2,790 2,592
81,339 729 82,068 81,870
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Liquidity risk (Continued)

30 2R T A (&)

(d) RBESER(E)

31 March 2024

—Z-MFE=A=+—H
On demand Total
or within undiscounted Carrying
one year 1-5 years cash flows amount
BEKY RELE
R—ER —E1F BEeREgs REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHL FHEL FEL
Trade payables B 5 ENHIE 29,823 - 29,823 29,823
Other payables and accruals H e 1 3008 R e AT E AR 28,966 - 28,966 28,966
Amounts due to directors ENESZIE 4,034 - 4,034 4,034
Lease liabilities MEEE 3,248 1,089 4,337 4,039
66,071 1,089 67,160 66,862
Categories of financial instruments (e) €RMIESHE
At 31 March
R=A=+—AH
2025 2024
—E_RHEF —E-mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets: SREE "
Financial assets at amortised cost R SHA AR R o R E =
(including bank and cash balances) (BRERITERESEH) 80,803 90,370
Financial liabilities: cREE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REEN AT RN/ EE 81,870 66,862
Fair values H 2FE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

rEEEREERSRBBENGEAME

FRAERRB T EASEEARE Y AT
EHRE -
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31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31 BEALXRS
(@) Transactions with related parties (@) BEALXRS
In addition to the transactions and balances with certain BRGEMBmRERPHMEE D T E M
related parties disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated ETHEBEALNRS REHRIN RNEB
financial statements, the Group had the following REBEE-_Z-_AFR-_ZT_WF=A
transactions and balances with related parties during the =t B FEHEEALTEUTRS
year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024: &=
Transactions with related parties BEALXE
2025 2024
—E_RE —ENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Sales to related companies REFENFIHE - 6,765
Impairment loss on trade receivables B 5 EUGRIE 2 REEE = 341
Impairment loss on other receivable Hih R IE 2 BEEE - 12
Balances with related parties HEEA T 46
2025 2024
—EZHF —EMEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Amounts due from related companies EWBEERRFIA(BIEES
included in trade receivables FEWRIE) = 6,598
Amount due from a related company R — R BN BB (B
included in other receivables, deposits Hab W IR -~ me RIER
and prepayments IE) = 62
Amounts due to related companies JERRAE A EIRIB (BIEEAM
included in other payables and accruals R RERESER) = 8,407
Note: MIEE -
The related party transactions are based on terms mutually agreed B AT GRS S LR TE RS
between both parties. 1T °
(b) Key management compensation (b) TEEBABHFM
The key management personnel of the Group comprise all KEBMTECEAEBELEEER
the Directors and the five highest paid individuals. Details hEEEmTMALT EERRAE RS H
of the compensation to Directors and the five highest paid A L E) B BN IS SRR A BT ISR I
individuals are included in note 10 to the consolidated E10 e

financial statements.
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e |RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 — L -—AF = A=+—HIFE

32 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 32 FENBEAFA
The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in TERINHEERATESEREFAFEEE
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of BN E R D EEFEZARGNER
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Al -EBRAFAYVNEMMB AR EENT| XK
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion WRILE °

of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at the end of the reporting REEHRZFTEWBARIGEBEWOT
period are as follows:

Issued
Place of ordinary/
incorporation/ registered Percentage of equity interest attributable
Name of subsidiaries place of operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
HRAILE/ BRTEER/
WEAREH XY BEfRA FAREEREADY IERH
Directly Indirectly
E# B
2025 2004 2025 2024
SECRE CZOMF ZEBCRE CEOME
BREE(MIERAT The PRC RMBE,000,000 ~ 90.91% 9091% 9.09% 9.09% Provision of gold processing business
G AR 6,000,000 RUEEEMIES
MHEERRMAEREART The PRC RMB100,000,000 - - 100% 100% Provision of gold processing business
4: ARH100,000,0007 RUSENIZH
BEiR (2E) ERAT The PRC RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of gold processing business
hE AR1,000,0007 REEENIZH
BE(H) EBRRARAT The PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Provision of gold processing business
(Note) (Ff ) G AR¥1,000,000% RUBENIEH
" Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law. 4 JRIFEREFEET A EEEPE -
Note: This subsidiary was incorporated on 25 March 2024. Wek: ZMBRARR-ZZE_WF=A = +H A+
AL o
33 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33 FEBRESRERMT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions (@ FEXREXRSH
The Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets REERBRERESZUARBAZENHE
and lease liabilities of HK$1,760,000 (2024: HK$2,823,000) ZHE E’J FREEERHERENIERS
and HK$1,760,000 (2024: HK$2,823,000) respectively, in ARE 5 RIA1,760,0008 7T (ZF Z 4 :
respect of lease arrangements of plant and machineries and 2,823,000/ 7T) K1,760,000/% 7T (=&
office. ZPY4F : 2,823,000/ 7T) ©
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e M |RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HiZE =—ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

33 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33 KEHERERMET (E)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BMETEBFHREEESH
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities THRIIWEHENER@E S ENNANEEF
arising from financing activities during the year: BEE
Total
liabilities
Amount from
due to Lease financing
directors liabilities activities
A REEE

BEENER HERE BEAE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000

FET FET FHET
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-=FMm™A—H 3,968 6,451 10,419
Changes in cash flows BeEmRs® 315 (3,807) (3,492)
Non-cash changes: JEBR &

— addition of lease liabilities - ANEHEAE - 2,823 2,823

— termination of lease — RIEHE - (1,994) (1,994)

— interest charged — MEZH - 566 566

— Exchange difference — [ENERE (249) - (249)
At 31 March 2024 and ﬁA:§:m¢*H*+ H &

1 April 2024 —EHFEMA—H 4,034 4,039 8,073
Changes in cash flows ReReE (459) (1,918) (2,377)
Non-cash changes: #EE%H :

— addition of lease liabilities NEHEARE - 1,760 1,760

— termination of lease %%JJ:TE & = (1,499) (1,499)

— interest charged — MEXH - 210 210
At 31 March 2025 RZZEZRF=A=+—H 3,575 2,592 6,167

34 APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED 34 WESLSHBERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and ?/:1\ BHHEN _ZE-_AE~A-_++tHE
authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 27 June 2025. EEOHENRIEETE
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Five-Year Financial Summary

EFMBEHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out

AEEBEREAVRFREZREAAREERBER
2REBEE T REERVBRRLEEYEH
DREE) - FIIWMT -

below.
RESULTS E 4
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“E-RE  —T-mF  ZEZ=F Tz —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FTHERT FAT FAIT FAT FAT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS HELEER
Revenue W5 125,245 422,733 363,764 182,032 175,196
Profit/(loss) before tax from SIS E B TAT
continuing operations w A (E8) 13,119 12,512 10,999 6,217 (9,936)
Income tax expense FTERAEX (4,605) (6,334) (6,380) (4,185) (608)
Profit/(loss) for the year BELEEBAFE 8,514 6,178 4,619 2,032 (10,544)
from continuing operations B, ()
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS B 4% || 48 & # 7%
Loss from discontinued operations B 4% |F &4 ¥ T& 518 - - (3,803) - -
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ~ AREEHF],/ (F518) 8,514 6,178 816 2,032 (10,544)
Attributable to: IATALRERN:
Owners of the Company RRAREEB A 8,514 6,178 816 2,032 (10,544)
Non-controlling interests FEER R - - - — -
8,514 6,178 816 2,032 (10,544)
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EFMBEHRE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENERE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E_REF —EF —E=F —E-= B4
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET FET
Total assets BWEE 222,620 204,849 211,983 141,916 104,321
Total liabilities Fy=Rr (100,546) (86,892) (96,113) (92,036) (56,975)
Net assets BEFE 122,074 117,957 115,870 49,880 47,346
Attributable to: AT ALRER :
Owners of the Company Z/NECIET 2SN 122,074 117,957 115,870 49,880 47,346
Non-controlling interests IEIRARRE 2R = - _ _ _
122,074 117,957 115,870 49,880 47,346
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